
           
OFFICIAL AGENDA

TUESDAY December 23, 2025
Meeting Start Time: 9:00 a.m.

Board of County Commissioners
Yellowstone County, Montana

City Hall
316 N. 26th Street, Room 3108

Billings, MT
8:45 a.m. Agenda Setting 

           

Pledge to the Flag: Moment of Silence: Minutes
REGULAR AGENDA

9:00 a.m. RECOGNITION

Edward Zink County Attorney 27 Years of Service — Departure of Service
Janet Reynolds GIS/DES 25 Years of Service
Tina Gascon Sheriff Records 10 Years of Service
Heidi Asay Detention Center 10 Years of Service
Johnathan Klem Detention Center 10 Years of Service
Levi Robison County Attorney 10 Years of Service

 

9:00 a.m. PUBLIC HEARING

Resolution 25-128 Adopting Amended Yellowstone County Buildings for Rent or Lease Regulations
 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON REGULAR, CONSENT AND FILED AGENDA ITEMS

 

1. FINANCE  

Resolution 25-135 Solid Waste District Intent to Raise Fees and Setting the Public Hearing for Tuesday January
6, 2026 @ 9:00 a.m. in Room 309 of the John V. Ostlund Building located at 2825 3rd Ave North
 

 

CLAIMS

 CONSENT AGENDA 

1. COMMISSIONERS  

a. Board Appointment - Kim Deal to LPSD  
b. Lockwood Pedestrian Safety District Bylaws 2025  
c. Ostlund Building Employee Guidelines

 
 

2. COUNTY ATTORNEY  

Release and Settlement of Claims — Davis
 

 

3. FINANCE  

a. Change Order #1 - Sletten Construction - Short Term Hold  
b. Request to Expend - Facilities - Snow Plow  
c. Recommendation of Award - Metra Skybox Renovation  
d. EDA Grant Amendment - Scope Increase North Frontage

 
 

4. SHERIFF  

Big Horn County Agreement for Adult Detention Services
 

 



5. HUMAN RESOURCES  

a. Yellowstone County Class Specificaiton - Custodian/Housekeeping Supervisor  
b. Isolved Contract Renwal  
c. PERSONNEL ACTION REPORTS — Detention Facility — 5 Appointments, 1 Termination; District Court —

2 Appointments; MetraPark — 1 Appointment; Road & Bridge — 1 Appointment; Youth Services Center —
1 Salary & Other, 2 Terminations; Sheriff's Office - 5 Salary & Other; County Attorney - 1 Termination 

 

 FILE ITEMS 

1. CLERK AND RECORDER  

Board Minutes - MetraPark Advisory Board
 

 

2. COMMISSIONERS  

Board Minutes - DUI Task Force November 2025
 

 

3. FINANCE  

ARPA Project Tracking Sheet - through 12/18/25
 

 

4. PUBLIC WORKS  

a. 2025-2026 Snow Removal Contract with Sparks Inc.  
b. 25-26 Snow removal contracts with John's Home and Yard Service.  

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON COUNTY BUSINESS
*Public comment is an opportunity for individuals to address the Board, however, the Board cannot engage in discussion or
take action on items not properly noticed on the agenda.

 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: December Recognition
Submitted By: Charri Victory

TOPIC:
Edward Zink County Attorney 27 Years of Service — Departure of Service
Janet Reynolds GIS/DES 25 Years of Service
Tina Gascon Sheriff Records 10 Years of Service
Heidi Asay Detention Center 10 Years of Service
Johnathan
Klem Detention Center 10 Years of Service

Levi Robison County Attorney 10 Years of Service

BACKGROUND:
na

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
na



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
TITLE: Public Hearing for Updated Buildings for Lease or Rent Regulations (BLR)
PRESENTED BY: Dave Green
DEPARTMENT: Planning Department

TOPIC:
Resolution 25-128 Adopting Amended Yellowstone County Buildings for Rent or Lease Regulations
 

INTRODUCTION:
The Planning Division is bringing forward the proposed updated Buildings for Lease or Rent (BLR)
regulations for Yellowstone County.

The Planning Division has worked with County Public Works and County Legal staff on updating the
BLR regulations to  incorporate recent State legislative amendments required by SB 174. This bill
removes RV parks and Mobile Home parks from the subdivision regulations review and moves them
into BLR requirements in the un-zoned areas of Yellowstone County.  Any RV park or Mobile Home
park within the zoned area of Yellowstone County will go through the Master Site Plan review for
compliance with existing county road regulations, fire suppression regulations and zoning regulations.
 

Planning updated the BLR regulations, consulting with County Public Works, and County Legal. The
updated BLR regulations were written by taking the RV and Mobile Home parks section from the
Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations and modifying them for the BLR regulations. Chapter 6
was Subdivisions for Rent or Lease. This included RV and Mobile Home Parks. Chapter 4 of the
Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations is Development Requirements. This chapter was used as
a template for the requirements of developing RV and Mobile Home Park sites.

The only significant change in these regulations is the removal of the requirement to install a gate on
RV park roads within Building for Lease or Rent developments. The Planning, Public Works, and Legal
Departments discussed the implications of gates in connection with private roads. The regulations
continue to designate internal roads within RV parks and Mobile Home parks as private. Because RV
parks have the possibility of people coming and leaving at all hours and are more susceptible to fire
hazards, eliminating gates helps reduce potential delays in emergency response times. It also helps
manage an RV Park with the diversity of people coming and going. Maintaining private roads within
these developments also relieves the County of maintenance responsibilities. To help mitigate fire
risks, the regulations require a centrally located dry hydrant and the dedication of an easement for
access and maintenance of the dry hydrant.

Developers of RV and Mobile Home parks will be required to put a sign at the entry of their park to
indicate the roads are all private inside the RV or Mobile Home park.

Planning staff placed the proposed regulations on the Planning Division website and also sent them to
consultants/engineering firms for input. The proposed regulations were also discussed at a meeting
with the Homebuilders Association on November 12 at 1pm. There were no comments or concerns
during the meeting. 

Planning brought the proposed BLR regulations to the Board of County Commissioners on November
13, 2025. The Board of County Commissioners requested to have gates on all BLR's except RV parks



and to install a sign at entries to BLR's that state Private Roads. Those items have been added to the
BLR regulations.

On November 18, 2025, the Board of County Commissioners set a public hearing for the updated BLR
regulation. The public hearing takes place on December 23, 2025.
 

ALTERNATIVES ANALYZED:
The purpose of the County’s BLR review process is to identify potential negative effects on the public
and County services when property is being developed. When negative effects are identified, it is the
developers' responsibility to mitigate those effects.  Various County departments and private
service/utility providers will review proposed developments and provide input on effects and mitigation.

The Board of County Commissioners can do one of the following: 
- Approve the Resolution to Adopt Amended Yellowstone County Buildings for Lease or Rent
Regulations 
- Deny the Resolution to Adopt Amended Yellowstone County Buildings for Lease or Rent Regulations
— Denying the Resolution does not allow for the Buildings for Lease or Rent Regulations to go into
effect.

FINANCIAL IMPACT:
This update to BLR regulations will not have any financial impacts on the Planning Division.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff is recommending approval of the Resolution to Adopt Amended Yellowstone County Buildings for
Rent or Lease Regulations Resolution. 

Attachments
Resolution 
SB 174 
Updated BLR Regulations 
Original BLR 



Resolution No. 25-133
Resolution to Adopt Amended Yellowstone County Buildings for Rent or Lease Regulations

1 of 1

YELLOWSTONE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

Resolution No. 25-133

Resolution to Adopt Amended Yellowstone County Buildings for Rent or Lease Regulations

WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 76-8-107(1) of the Montana Code Annotated, a board of county commissioners has the 
authority to enact buildings for rent or lease regulations.  Pursuant to Section 76-8-107(3) of the Montana Code Annotated for a 
board to enact the regulations it has to pass a resolution of intent, set a public hearing, provide notice of the public hearing, hold a 
public hearing, receive public comment, consider the public comment and pass a resolution.

WHEREAS, in 2025, the Montana Legislature passed Senate Bill No. 174.  The Bill required local governments to review the 
creation of recreational vehicle and manufactured home parks under the standards for the creation of buildings for rent or lease.  
Prior to the Bill, local governments reviewed the creation of the recreational vehicle and manufactured home parks under the 
standards for the creation of a subdivision. To effectuate the change, Yellowstone County needs to move its regulations on the 
creation of recreational vehicle and manufactured home parks from its subdivision regulations to its buildings for rent or lease 
regulations. The County needs to eliminate its recreational vehicle and manufactured home parks regulations from its 
subdivision regulations and add them to its buildings for rent or lease regulations.  The County needs to amend both its 
subdivision and buildings for rent or lease regulations.  This resolution only addresses the buildings for rent or lease regulations.  
The County will pass a separate resolution related to its subdivision regulations.

WHEREAS, on November 18, 2025, the Yellowstone County Board of County Commissioners passed a resolution of intent to 
adopt amended Yellowstone County Buildings for Rent or Lease Regulations and set a public hearing on the adoption for 
December 23, 2025.  On November 21, 2025, and November 28, 2025, the Yellowstone County Clerk and Recorder published 
notice of the public hearing in the Yellowstone County News.  From November 21, 2025, until December 23, 2025, the Clerk and 
Recorder posted notice of the public hearing at five locations in the County. On December 23, 2025, the Board held a public 
hearing on the regulations.  The Board heard comments on the regulations, considered the regulations and comments.  The Board 
determined that it would be in the best interest of the public to adopt the regulations.  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED,

The Yellowstone County Board of County Commissioners adopts amended Yellowstone County Buildings for Rent or Lease 
Regulations.  The regulations supersede all previous regulations and shall remain effective until superseded by other regulations.
Attached are the regulations.  

Passed and Adopted on the 23rd day of December 2025.

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS
YELLOWSTONE COUNTY, MONTANA

Mark Morse, Chair

Michael J. Waters, Member ATTEST

Chris White, Member Jeff Martin, Clerk and Recorder

Attachment
Regulations



 - 2025 
69th Legislature 2025 SB 174

- 1 -  Authorized Print Version – SB 174 

ENROLLED BILL

AN ACT REVISING LAWS RELATED TO THE REVIEW OF BUILDINGS FOR LEASE OR RENT; REQUIRING 

RECREATIONAL VEHICLES AND MOBILE HOMES TO BE CONSIDERED BUILDINGS FOR LEASE OR 

RENT FOR THE PURPOSES OF SUBDIVISION REVIEW; AND AMENDING SECTIONS 76-3-103, 76-3-504, 

76-3-621, AND 76-8-101, 76-8-103, AND 76-8-107, MCA.”

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MONTANA:

Section 1. Section 76-3-103, MCA, is amended to read:

"76-3-103. Definitions. As used in this chapter, unless the context or subject matter clearly requires 

otherwise, the following definitions apply:

(1) "Certificate of survey" means a drawing of a field survey prepared by a registered surveyor for 

the purpose of disclosing facts pertaining to boundary locations.

(2) "Cluster development" means a subdivision with lots clustered in a group of five or more lots 

that is designed to concentrate building sites on smaller lots in order to reduce capital and maintenance costs 

for infrastructure through the use of concentrated public services and utilities, while allowing other lands to 

remain undeveloped.

(3) "Dedication" means the deliberate appropriation of land by an owner for any general and public 

use, reserving to the landowner no rights that are incompatible with the full exercise and enjoyment of the 

public use to which the property has been devoted.

(4) "Division of land" means the segregation of one or more parcels of land from a larger tract held 

in single or undivided ownership by transferring or contracting to transfer title to a portion of the tract or properly 

filing a certificate of survey or subdivision plat establishing the identity of the segregated parcels pursuant to 

this chapter. The conveyance of a tract of record or an entire parcel of land that was created by a previous 

division of land is not a division of land.



 - 2025 
69th Legislature 2025 SB 174

- 2 -  Authorized Print Version – SB 174 

ENROLLED BILL

(5) "Examining land surveyor" means a registered land surveyor appointed by the governing body 

to review surveys and plats submitted for filing.

(6) "Final plat" means the final drawing of the subdivision and dedication required by this chapter 

to be prepared for filing for record with the county clerk and recorder and containing all elements and 

requirements set forth in this chapter and in regulations adopted pursuant to this chapter.

(7) "Governing body" means a board of county commissioners or the governing authority of a city 

or town organized pursuant to law.

(8) "Immediate family" means a spouse, children by blood or adoption, and parents.

(9) "Minor subdivision" means a subdivision that creates five or fewer lots from a tract of record.

(10) "Phased development" means a subdivision application and preliminary plat that at the time of 

submission consists of independently platted development phases that are scheduled for review on a schedule 

proposed by the subdivider.

(11) "Planned unit development" means a land development project consisting of residential 

clusters, industrial parks, shopping centers, or office building parks that compose a planned mixture of land 

uses built in a prearranged relationship to each other and having open space and community facilities in 

common ownership or use.

(12) "Plat" means a graphical representation of a subdivision showing the division of land into lots, 

parcels, blocks, streets, alleys, and other divisions and dedications.

(13) "Preliminary plat" means a neat and scaled drawing of a proposed subdivision showing the 

layout of streets, alleys, lots, blocks, and other elements of a subdivision that furnish a basis for review by a 

governing body.

(14) "Public utility" has the meaning provided in 69-3-101, except that for the purposes of this 

chapter, the term includes county or consolidated city and county water or sewer districts as provided for in Title 

7, chapter 13, parts 22 and 23, and municipal sewer or water systems and municipal water supply systems 

established by the governing body of a municipality pursuant to Title 7, chapter 13, parts 42, 43, and 44.

(15) "Subdivider" means a person who causes land to be subdivided or who proposes a subdivision 

of land.

(16) "Subdivision" means a division of land or land so divided that it creates one or more parcels 



 - 2025 
69th Legislature 2025 SB 174

- 3 -  Authorized Print Version – SB 174 

ENROLLED BILL

containing less than 160 acres that cannot be described as a one-quarter aliquot part of a United States 

government section, exclusive of public roadways, in order that the title to the parcels may be sold or otherwise 

transferred and includes any resubdivision and a condominium. The term also means an area, regardless of its 

size, that provides or will provide multiple spaces for rent or lease on which recreational camping vehicles or 

mobile homes will be placed.

(17) (a) "Tract of record" means an individual parcel of land, irrespective of ownership, that can be 

identified by legal description, independent of any other parcel of land, using documents on file in the records of 

the county clerk and recorder's office.

(b) Each individual tract of record continues to be an individual parcel of land unless the owner of 

the parcel has joined it with other contiguous parcels by filing with the county clerk and recorder:

(i) an instrument of conveyance in which the aggregated parcels have been assigned a legal 

description that describes the resulting single parcel and in which the owner expressly declares the owner's 

intention that the tracts be merged; or

(ii) a certificate of survey or subdivision plat that shows that the boundaries of the original parcels 

have been expunged and depicts the boundaries of the larger aggregate parcel.

(c) An instrument of conveyance does not merge parcels of land under subsection (17)(b)(i) unless 

the instrument states, "This instrument is intended to merge individual parcels of land to form the aggregate 

parcel(s) described in this instrument" or a similar statement, in addition to the legal description of the 

aggregate parcels, clearly expressing the owner's intent to effect a merger of parcels."

Section 2. Section 76-3-504, MCA, is amended to read:

"76-3-504. Subdivision regulations -- contents. (1) The subdivision regulations adopted under this 

chapter must comply with the requirements provided for in 76-3-501 and, at a minimum:

(a) list the materials that must be included in a subdivision application in order for the application to 

be determined to contain the required elements for the purposes of the review required in 76-3-604(1);

(b) except as provided in 76-3-509, 76-3-609, or 76-3-616, require the subdivider to submit to the 

governing body an environmental assessment as prescribed in 76-3-603;

(c) establish procedures consistent with this chapter for the submission and review of subdivision 



 - 2025 
69th Legislature 2025 SB 174

- 4 -  Authorized Print Version – SB 174 

ENROLLED BILL

applications and amended applications;

(d) prescribe the form and contents of preliminary plats and the documents to accompany final 

plats;

(e) provide for the identification of areas that, because of natural or human-caused hazards, are 

unsuitable for subdivision development. The regulations must prohibit subdivisions in these areas unless the 

hazards can be eliminated or overcome by approved construction techniques or other mitigation measures 

authorized under 76-3-608(4) and (5). Approved construction techniques or other mitigation measures may not 

include building regulations as defined in 50-60-101 other than those identified by the department of labor and 

industry as provided in 50-60-901.

(f) prohibit subdivisions for building purposes in areas located within the floodway of a flood of 

100-year frequency, as defined by Title 76, chapter 5, or determined to be subject to flooding by the governing 

body;

(g) prescribe standards for:

(i) the design and arrangement of lots, streets, and roads;

(ii) grading and drainage;

(iii) subject to the provisions of 76-3-511, water supply and sewage and solid waste disposal that 

meet the:

(A) regulations adopted by the department of environmental quality under 76-4-104 for 

subdivisions that will create one or more parcels containing less than 20 acres; and

(B) standards provided in 76-3-604 and 76-3-622 for subdivisions that will create one or more 

parcels containing 20 acres or more and less than 160 acres; and

(iv) the location and installation of public utilities;

(h) provide procedures for the administration of the park and open-space requirements of this 

chapter;

(i) provide for the review of subdivision applications by affected public utilities and those agencies 

of local, state, and federal government identified during the preapplication consultation conducted pursuant to 

subsection (1)(q) or those having a substantial interest in a proposed subdivision. A public utility or agency 

review may not delay the governing body's action on the application beyond the time limits specified in this 



 - 2025 
69th Legislature 2025 SB 174

- 5 -  Authorized Print Version – SB 174 

ENROLLED BILL

chapter, and the failure of any agency to complete a review of an application may not be a basis for rejection of 

the application by the governing body.

(j) when a subdivision creates parcels with lot sizes averaging less than 5 acres, require the 

subdivider to:

(i) reserve all or a portion of the appropriation water rights owned by the owner of the land to be 

subdivided and transfer the water rights to a single entity for use by landowners within the subdivision who have 

a legal right to the water and reserve and sever any remaining surface water rights from the land;

(ii) if the land to be subdivided is subject to a contract or interest in a public or private entity formed 

to provide the use of a water right on the subdivision lots, establish a landowner's water use agreement 

administered through a single entity that specifies administration and the rights and responsibilities of 

landowners within the subdivision who have a legal right and access to the water; or

(iii) reserve and sever all surface water rights from the land;

(k) (i) except as provided in subsection (1)(k)(ii), require the subdivider to establish ditch 

easements in the subdivision that:

(A) are in locations of appropriate topographic characteristics and sufficient width to allow the 

physical placement and unobstructed maintenance of open ditches or belowground pipelines for the delivery of 

water for irrigation to persons and lands legally entitled to the water under an appropriated water right or permit 

of an irrigation district or other private or public entity formed to provide for the use of the water right on the 

subdivision lots;

(B) are a sufficient distance from the centerline of the ditch to allow for construction, repair, 

maintenance, and inspection of the ditch; and

(C) prohibit the placement of structures or the planting of vegetation other than grass within the 

ditch easement without the written permission of the ditch owner.

(ii) Establishment of easements pursuant to this subsection (1)(k) is not required if:

(A) the average lot size is 1 acre or less and the subdivider provides for disclosure, in a manner 

acceptable to the governing body, that adequately notifies potential buyers of lots that are classified as irrigated 

land and may continue to be assessed for irrigation water delivery even though the water may not be 

deliverable; or



 - 2025 
69th Legislature 2025 SB 174

- 6 -  Authorized Print Version – SB 174 

ENROLLED BILL

(B) the water rights are removed or the process has been initiated to remove the water rights from 

the subdivided land through an appropriate legal or administrative process and if the removal or intended 

removal is denoted on the preliminary plat. If removal of water rights is not complete upon filing of the final plat, 

the subdivider shall provide written notification to prospective buyers of the intent to remove the water right and 

shall document that intent, when applicable, in agreements and legal documents for related sales transactions.

(l) require the subdivider, unless otherwise provided for under separate written agreement or filed 

easement, to file and record ditch easements for unobstructed use and maintenance of existing water delivery 

ditches, pipelines, and facilities in the subdivision that are necessary to convey water through the subdivision to 

lands adjacent to or beyond the subdivision boundaries in quantities and in a manner that are consistent with 

historic and legal rights;

(m) require the subdivider to describe, dimension, and show public utility easements in the 

subdivision on the final plat in their true and correct location. The public utility easements must be of sufficient 

width to allow the physical placement and unobstructed maintenance of public utility facilities for the provision of 

public utility services within the subdivision.

(n) establish whether the governing body, its authorized agent or agency, or both will hold public 

hearings;

(o) establish procedures describing how the governing body or its agent or agency will address 

information presented at the hearing or hearings held pursuant to 76-3-605 and 76-3-615;

(p) establish criteria that the governing body or reviewing authority will use to determine whether a 

proposed method of disposition using the exemptions provided in 76-3-201 or 76-3-207 is an attempt to evade 

the requirements of this chapter. The regulations must provide for an appeals process to the governing body if 

the reviewing authority is not the governing body.

(q) establish a preapplication process that:

(i) requires a subdivider to meet with the authorized agent or agency, other than the governing 

body, that is designated by the governing body to review subdivision applications prior to the subdivider 

submitting the application;

(ii) requires, for informational purposes only, identification of the state laws, local regulations, and 

growth policy provisions, if a growth policy has been adopted, that may apply to the subdivision review process;



 - 2025 
69th Legislature 2025 SB 174

- 7 -  Authorized Print Version – SB 174 

ENROLLED BILL

(iii) requires a list to be made available to the subdivider of the public utilities, those agencies of 

local, state, and federal government, and any other entities that may be contacted for comment on the 

subdivision application and the timeframes that the public utilities, agencies, and other entities are given to 

respond. If, during the review of the application, the agent or agency designated by the governing body 

contacts a public utility, agency, or other entity that was not included on the list originally made available to the 

subdivider, the agent or agency shall notify the subdivider of the contact and the timeframe for response.

(iv) requires that a preapplication meeting take place no more than 30 days from the date that the 

authorized agent or agency receives a written request for a preapplication meeting from the subdivider; and

(v) establishes a time limit after a preapplication meeting by which an application must be 

submitted;

(r) require that the written decision required by 76-3-620 must be provided to the applicant within 

30 working days following a decision by the governing body to approve, conditionally approve, or deny a 

subdivision;

(s) establish criteria for reviewing an area, regardless of its size, that provides or will provide 

multiple spaces for recreational camping vehicles or mobile homes.

(2) In order to accomplish the purposes described in 76-3-501, the subdivision regulations adopted 

under 76-3-509 and this section may include provisions that are consistent with this section that promote cluster 

development."

Section 3. Section 76-3-621, MCA, is amended to read:

"76-3-621. Park dedication requirement. (1) Except as provided in 76-3-509 or subsections (2), (3), 

and (6) through (9) of this section, a subdivider shall dedicate to the governing body a cash or land donation 

equal to:

(a) 11% of the area of the land proposed to be subdivided into parcels of one-half acre or smaller;

(b) 7.5% of the area of the land proposed to be subdivided into parcels larger than one-half acre 

and not larger than 1 acre;

(c) 5% of the area of the land proposed to be subdivided into parcels larger than 1 acre and not 

larger than 3 acres; and



 - 2025 
69th Legislature 2025 SB 174

- 8 -  Authorized Print Version – SB 174 

ENROLLED BILL

(d) 2.5% of the area of the land proposed to be subdivided into parcels larger than 3 acres and not 

larger than 5 acres.

(2) When a subdivision is located totally within an area for which density requirements have been 

adopted pursuant to a growth policy under chapter 1 or pursuant to zoning regulations under chapter 2, the 

governing body may establish park dedication requirements based on the community need for parks and the 

development densities identified in the growth policy or regulations. Park dedication requirements established 

under this subsection are in lieu of those provided in subsection (1) and may not exceed 0.03 acres per 

dwelling unit.

(3) A park dedication may not be required for:

(a) land proposed for subdivision into parcels larger than 5 acres;

(b) subdivision into parcels that are all nonresidential;

(c) a subdivision in which parcels are not created, except when that subdivision provides 

permanent multiple spaces for recreational camping vehicles, mobile homes, or for condominiums;

(d) a subdivision in which only one additional parcel is created; or

(e) except as provided in subsection (8), a first minor subdivision from a tract of record as 

described in 76-3-609(2).

(4) The governing body, in consultation with the subdivider and the planning board or park board 

that has jurisdiction, may determine suitable locations for parks and playgrounds and, giving due weight and 

consideration to the expressed preference of the subdivider, may determine whether the park dedication must 

be a land donation, cash donation, or a combination of both. When a combination of land donation and cash 

donation is required, the cash donation may not exceed the proportional amount not covered by the land 

donation.

(5) (a) In accordance with the provisions of subsections (5)(b) and (5)(c), the governing body shall 

use the dedicated money or land for development, acquisition, or maintenance of parks to serve the 

subdivision.

(b) The governing body may use the dedicated money to acquire, develop, or maintain, within its 

jurisdiction, parks or recreational areas or for the purchase of public open space or conservation easements 

only if:



 - 2025 
69th Legislature 2025 SB 174

- 9 -  Authorized Print Version – SB 174 

ENROLLED BILL

(i) the park, recreational area, open space, or conservation easement is within a reasonably close 

proximity to the proposed subdivision; and

(ii) the governing body has formally adopted a park plan that establishes the needs and 

procedures for use of the money.

(c) The governing body may not use more than 50% of the dedicated money for park 

maintenance.

(6) The local governing body shall waive the park dedication requirement if:

(a) (i) the preliminary plat provides for a planned unit development or other development with land 

permanently set aside for park and recreational uses sufficient to meet the needs of the persons who will 

ultimately reside in the development; and

(ii) the area of the land and any improvements set aside for park and recreational purposes equals 

or exceeds the area of the dedication required under subsection (1);

(b) (i) the preliminary plat provides long-term protection of critical wildlife habitat; cultural, historical, 

or natural resources; agricultural interests; or aesthetic values; and

(ii) the area of the land proposed to be subdivided, by virtue of providing long-term protection 

provided for in subsection (6)(b)(i), is reduced by an amount equal to or exceeding the area of the dedication 

required under subsection (1);

(c) the area of the land proposed to be subdivided, by virtue of a combination of the provisions of 

subsections (6)(a) and (6)(b), is reduced by an amount equal to or exceeding the area of the dedication 

required under subsection (1); or

(d) (i) the subdivider provides for land outside of the subdivision to be set aside for park and 

recreational uses sufficient to meet the needs of the persons who will ultimately reside in the subdivision; and

(ii) the area of the land and any improvements set aside for park and recreational uses equals or 

exceeds the area of dedication required under subsection (1).

(7) The local governing body may waive the park dedication requirement if:

(a) the subdivider provides land outside the subdivision that affords long-term protection of critical 

wildlife habitat, cultural, historical, or natural resources, agricultural interests, or aesthetic values; and

(b) the area of the land to be subject to long-term protection, as provided in subsection (7)(a), 



 - 2025 
69th Legislature 2025 SB 174

- 10 -  Authorized Print Version – SB 174 

ENROLLED BILL

equals or exceeds the area of the dedication required under subsection (1).

(8) (a) A local governing body may, at its discretion, require a park dedication for:

(i) a subsequent minor subdivision as described in 76-3-609(3); or

(ii) a first minor subdivision from a tract of record as described in 76-3-609(2) if:

(A) the subdivision plat indicates development of condominiums or other multifamily housing;

(B) zoning regulations permit condominiums or other multifamily housing; or

(C) any of the lots are located within the boundaries of a municipality.

(b) A local governing body that chooses to require a park dedication shall specify in regulations the 

circumstances under which a park dedication will be required.

(9) Subject to the approval of the local governing body and acceptance by the school district 

trustees, a subdivider may dedicate a land donation provided in subsection (1) to a school district, adequate to 

be used for school facilities or buildings.

(10) For the purposes of this section:

(a) "cash donation" is the fair market value of the unsubdivided, unimproved land; and

(b) "dwelling unit" means a residential structure in which a person or persons reside.

(11) A land donation under this section may be inside or outside of the subdivision."

Section 4. Section 76-8-101, MCA, is amended to read:

"76-8-101. Definitions. As used in this part, the following definitions apply:

(1) "Building" means a structure or a unit of a structure with a roof supported by columns or walls 

for the permanent or temporary housing or enclosure of persons or property or for the operation of a business. 

Except as provided in 76-3-103 (16) the The term includes a recreational camping vehicle, mobile home, or cell 

tower or multiple spaces for lease or rent under single ownership on which recreational vehicles as defined in 

61-1-101 or mobile homes as defined in 15-24-201 will be placed. The term does not include a condominium or 

townhome.

(2) "Department" means the department of environmental quality provided for in 2-15-3501.

(3) "Governing body" means the legislative authority for a city, town, county, or consolidated city-

county government.



 - 2025 
69th Legislature 2025 SB 174

- 11 -  Authorized Print Version – SB 174 

ENROLLED BILL

(4) "Landowner" means an owner of a legal or equitable interest in real property. The term includes 

an heir, successor, or assignee of the ownership interest.

(5) "Local reviewing authority" means a local department or board of health that is approved to 

conduct reviews under Title 76, chapter 4.

(6) "Supermajority" means:

(a) an affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the present and voting members of a city or town 

council;

(b) a unanimous affirmative vote of the present and voting county commissioners in counties with 

three county commissioners;

(c) an affirmative vote of at least four-fifths of the present and voting county commissioners in 

counties with five commissioners;

(d) an affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the present and voting county commissioners in 

counties with more than five commissioners; or

(e) an affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the present and voting members of the governing 

body of a consolidated city-county government.

(7) "Tract" means an individual parcel of land that can be identified by legal description, 

independent of any other parcel of land, using documents on file in the records of the county clerk and 

recorder's office."

Section 5. Section 76-8-103, MCA, is amended to read:

"76-8-103. Buildings for lease or rent -- exemptions. (1) A building created for lease or rent on a 

single tract is exempt from the provisions of this part if:

(a) the building is in conformance with applicable zoning regulations adopted pursuant to Title 76, 

chapter 2, parts 1 through 3, provided that the zoning contains the elements of 76-8-107; or

(b) when applicable zoning regulations are not in effect:

(i) the building was in existence or under construction before September 1, 2013;

(ii) the building provides accommodations as defined in 15-68-101 that are subject to the lodging 

facility use tax under Title 15, chapter 65, except for spaces created for recreational camping vehicles or mobile 



 - 2025 
69th Legislature 2025 SB 174

- 12 -  Authorized Print Version – SB 174 

ENROLLED BILL

home parks;

(iii) the building is created for lease or rent for farming or agricultural purposes;

(iv) the building is not served by water and wastewater and will not be leased or rented;

(v) the building is served by water and wastewater and the landowner records a notarized 

declaration with the clerk and recorder of the county in which the property is located stating that the proposed 

building will not be leased or rented. The declaration recorded pursuant to this subsection (1)(b)(v) runs with the 

land and is binding on the landowner and all subsequent landowners and successors in interest to the property. 

The declaration must include but is not limited to:

(A) the name and address of the landowner;

(B) a legal description of the tract upon which the proposed building will be located; and

(C) a specific description of the building on the tract of record.

(2) Any building that is exempt under subsection (1) from the provisions of this part and that is or 

will be served by water or wastewater must be in compliance with the provisions of 76-8-106.

(3) The exemption provided in subsection (1)(b)(i) is limited to the first three buildings created for 

lease or rent on a single tract."

Section 6. Section 76-8-107, MCA, is amended to read:

"76-8-107. Buildings for lease or rent -- four or more buildings -- regulations. (1) A governing 

body shall adopt regulations for the administration and enforcement of the creation of four or more buildings for 

lease or rent on a single tract.

(2) The regulations adopted pursuant to this section must, at a minimum:

(a) list the materials that must be included in an application for the creation of four or more 

buildings for lease or rent;

(b) require a description of:

(i) property boundaries;

(ii) onsite and adjacent offsite streets, roads, and easements;

(iii) geographic features;

(iv) existing septic tanks and drainfields;



 - 2025 
69th Legislature 2025 SB 174

- 13 -  Authorized Print Version – SB 174 

ENROLLED BILL

(v) existing wells; and

(vi) existing and proposed buildings;

(c) require adequate water supply and sewage and solid waste disposal facilities;

(d) require an assessment of potential significant impacts on the surrounding physical environment 

and human population in the area to be affected, including conditions, if any, that may be imposed on the 

proposal to avoid or minimize potential significant impacts identified;

(e) require adequate emergency medical, fire protection, and law enforcement services;

(f) require access to the site; and

(g) comply with applicable flood plain requirements; and

(h) comply with an adopted growth policy.

(3) Prior to adopting regulations pursuant to this section, the governing body shall provide an 

opportunity for public hearing and comment on the proposed regulations. Notice of the public hearing must be 

published as provided in 7-1-2121 if the governing body is a county commission or as provided in 7-1-4127 if 

the governing body is a city commission or a town council and must be posted not less than 30 days before the 

public hearing in at least five public places, including but not limited to public buildings. Public comment must 

be addressed before the regulations are adopted."

Section 7. Coordination instruction. If either House Bill No. 233 or House Bill No. 534, or both, and 

[this act] are passed and approved and if either or both and [this act] contain a section that amends 76-8-101, 

then the sections amending 76-8-101 in House Bill No. 233 and House Bill No. 534 are void.

Section 8. Applicability. [This act] applies to recreational camping vehicles and mobile home spaces 

created on or after [the effective date of this act].

- END -



I hereby certify that the within bill,

SB 174, originated in the Senate.

___________________________________________

Secretary of the Senate

___________________________________________

President of the Senate

Signed this _______________________________day

of____________________________________, 2025.

___________________________________________

Speaker of the House 

Signed this _______________________________day
of____________________________________, 2025.



SENATE BILL NO. 174

INTRODUCED BY F. MANDEVILLE

AN ACT REVISING LAWS RELATED TO THE REVIEW OF BUILDINGS FOR LEASE OR RENT; REQUIRING 

RECREATIONAL VEHICLES AND MOBILE HOMES TO BE CONSIDERED BUILDINGS FOR LEASE OR RENT 

FOR THE PURPOSES OF SUBDIVISION REVIEW; AND AMENDING SECTIONS 76-3-103, 76-3-504, 76-3-

621, AND 76-8-101, 76-8-103, AND 76-8-107, MCA.”



 

Yellowstone County 

Buildings for Lease or Rent 

Application & Review Process 

 

 

1 CHAPTER 1: GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

1.1 Purpose 
 

The following regulations are intended to provide a process for the acceptance and review of 

applications for the creation of buildings for lease or rent in the unincorporated areas of 

Yellowstone County, Montana.  The lease or rent of buildings on a tract of record may directly 

impact the property and its surroundings with regard to vehicular access, public health, safety, 

and general welfare, the provision of public services and utilities, and the physical environment.  

These regulations are adopted for the purpose of considering and mitigating potential impacts 

resulting from buildings proposed for rent or lease on a single tract of record, ensuring protection 

of the public’s health, safety and general welfare.   

 

1.2  Authority & Administration 
 

A. These regulations are adopted under the authority of Sections 76-8-101, et seq., MCA 

 

B. The City-County Planning Division having jurisdiction is designated by the Board of 

County Commissioners of Yellowstone County to administer these regulations, including 

the review of any applications submitted, preparation of a recommendation of approval, 

conditional approval, or denial of the application to the Board for its consideration. 

 

C. The Board of County Commissioners has authority to approve, conditionally approve, or 

deny the application for the creation of buildings for lease or rent pursuant to these 

regulations. 

 

1.3  Applicability 
 

A. These regulations apply to all lands within unincorporated areas of Yellowstone County. 

 

B. In their interpretation and application, the provisions of this chapter may be regarded as 

the minimum requirements for the protection of the public’s health, safety, and welfare. 

 

C. This resolution is not intended to abrogate or annul any building permit, certificate of 

occupancy, variance, or other lawful permit issued before the effective date of this 

resolution. 

 

D. These regulations apply to all Buildings for Lease or Rent (BLR) including Recreational 

Vehicle Parks (RV) and Mobile Home Parks. 



 

 

1.4  Definitions 
 

A. Administrator – The individual designated by the governing body to carry out the terms 

of these regulations. 

 

B. Applicant – The owner, or designated representative, of land for which an application for 

the creation of a building for lease or rent has been submitted.   

 

C. Building – As defined in Section 76-8-101(1), MCA, a structure or a unit of a structure 

with a roof supported by columns or walls for the permanent or temporary housing or 

enclosure of persons or property or for the operation of a business. The term includes cell 

tower or multiple spaces for lease or rent under single ownership on which recreational 

vehicles as defined in 61-1-101, MCA or mobile homes as defined in 15-24-201, MCA 

will be placed. The term does not include a condominium or townhome. 

 

D. Department – As defined in Section 76-8-101(2), MCA, the department of environmental 

quality provided for in 2-15-3501. 

 

E. Driveways – Access driveways are defined as an access serving one or two lots and not 

more than five dwellings.  

 

F. Expansions – Major expansions would be 6 or more new spaces. Subsequent minor 

expansion would be 5 or fewer new spaces. 

 

G. Governing body – As defined in Section 76-8-101(3), MCA, the legislative authority for 

a city, town, county, or consolidated city-county government. 

 

H. Landowner – As defined in Section 76-8-101(4), MCA, an owner of a legal or equitable 

interest in real property. The term includes an heir, successor, or assignee of the 

ownership interest. 

 

I. Local reviewing authority – As defined in Section 76-8-101(5), MCA, a local department 

or board of health that is approved to conduct reviews under Title 76, chapter 4.  

 

J. Roads – Accesses serving more than two lots, or five dwellings shall be considered a road 

and built to road standards. 

 

K. Supermajority – As defined in Section 76-8-101(6), MCA, a unanimous affirmative vote 

of the present and voting county commissioners in counties with three county 

commissioners. 

 

L. Tract – As defined in Section 76-8-101(7), MCA, an individual parcel of land that can be 

identified by legal description, independent of any other parcel of land, using documents 

on file in the records of the county clerk and recorder's office. 



 

1.5  Exemptions 
 

A. A building created for lease or rent on a single tract is exempt from the provisions of 

these regulations if, when Yellowstone County Zoning Regulations are not in effect:  

 

i. The building is one of three or fewer buildings for lease or rent that were in 

existence or under construction before September 1, 2013;  

 

ii. The building is a facility as defined in 15-65-101 that is subject to the lodging 

facility use tax under Title 15, Chapter 65, except for spaces created for 

recreational camping vehicles or mobile home parks; or 

 

iii. The building is for farming or agricultural purposes; or 

 

iv. The building is not served by water and wastewater and will not be leased or 

rented;  

 

v. The building is served by water and wastewater and the landowner records a 

notarized declaration with the Yellowstone County Clerk and Recorder stating 

that the proposed building will not be leased or rented.  The declaration runs with 

the land and is binding on the landowner and all subsequent landowners and 

successors in interest to the property, and can only be revoked by review and 

approval by the governing body under these Regulations.  The declaration must 

include: 

 

a. The name and address of the landowner; 

 

b. A legal description of the tract upon which the proposed building will be 

located; and 

 

c. A specific description of the building on the tract of record. 

 

B. Any building that is exempt under Section 1.5.A. and that is or will be served by water or 

wastewater must be in compliance with Section 1.6.  

 

1.6  Buildings for Lease or Rent – three or fewer buildings – application review 

procedures 
 

A. The first three (3) or fewer buildings for lease or rent proposed on a single tract of record 

to the department or local reviewing authority for sanitation review if required by Title 

76, Chapter 4, MCA, or to the local board or department of health if review is required by 

Title 50, MCA.  If the department, local reviewing authority, or local board or department 

of health approves the application for sanitation review, the landowner shall record the 

certificate of approval and any conditions associated with the approval of the application 

with the Yellowstone County Clerk and Recorder. 

 



 

B. If a building for lease or rent is created on a single tract on or after September 1, 2013, 

and the tract is later subdivided or an exemption from subdivision review is used pursuant 

to Title 76, chapter 3, any building for lease or rent on the new tract is subject to these 

regulations.  

 

1.7  Buildings for Lease or Rent – four or more buildings – application review 

procedures 
 

A. Application Submittal Requirements 

 

i. An application for the creation of buildings for rent or lease shall be submitted to 

the administrator designated by the governing body, and accompanied by the 

payment of any fees established for the review of same.    

 

B. Review Process 

 

i. Upon receipt of an application along with all applicable fees, the administrator 

shall, within ten (10) working days, determine whether the application is complete 

and notify the applicant in writing.   

 

ii. If the application is incomplete, the administrator shall identify, in writing, any 

missing materials or insufficient information necessary to conduct the required 

review.   

 

iii. If the application is complete, the administrator shall complete review of the 

application, and the governing body shall approve, conditionally approve, or deny 

the application within sixty (60) working days.  The timeframe may be extended 

upon mutual agreement, in writing, by the applicant and the governing body.  

Review and approval, conditional approval, or denial of an application for the 

creation of buildings for lease or rent pursuant to this section must be based upon 

the regulations in effect at the time an application is determined to be complete. 

 

iv. The governing body may approve or conditionally approve the proposed buildings 

for lease or rent upon finding:  

 

a. The proposed buildings for lease or rent, as submitted or conditioned, 

comply with these regulations and avoid or minimize potential significant 

impacts on the physical environment and human population in the area 

affected by the buildings for lease or rent;  

 

b. Adequate water, wastewater, and solid waste facilities are available to 

serve the buildings for rent or lease, if applicable; 

 



 

c. Adequate access to the site is provided to serve the buildings for lease or 

rent; 

 

d. Adequate emergency medical, fire protection, and law enforcement 

services are available to serve the buildings for rent or lease; and 

 

e. The buildings for lease or rent comply with any applicable flood plain 

regulations. 

 

v. The governing body shall provide written notification to the landowner of the 

approval, conditional approval, or denial of the application within 60 working 

days after determining the application was complete. 

 

C. Appeal 

 

i. An applicant who is aggrieved by a final decision of the department or the local 

reviewing authority may request a hearing as provided in Section 76-4-126(1), 

MCA.  For purposes of this subsection, the contested case provisions of the 

Montana Administrative Procedure Act, Title 2, chapter 4, part 6, apply to the 

proceeding. 

 

ii. An applicant or landowner with a property boundary contiguous to the tract on 

which buildings for lease or rent are proposed to be located who is aggrieved by a 

decision of the governing body may, within 30 days of the date of the final 

decision of the governing body, appeal to the district court in the county in which 

the property involved is located. 

 

iii. For purposes of this section, "aggrieved" has the meaning provided in Section 76-

3-625, MCA. 

 

D. Enforcement and Penalties 

 

i. The administrator shall notify the landowner or any other responsible party of a 

violation of these regulations by certified mail and/or posting on the subject 

property.  The notice shall describe the violation, cite the section of these 

regulations being violated, and request the responsible party to voluntarily comply 

within 30 days. 

 

ii. Any person who receives a notice of violation may, within the 30 days allowed, 

request inspection by the administrator to show that compliance has been attained 

or appeal the notice of violation to the governing body. 

 

 



 

iii. If, after the 30 days for voluntary compliance has lapsed, compliance has not been 

attained or an appeal has not been filed, the administrator shall request the County 

Attorney begin legal action against the landowner or any other responsible party. 

 

iv. Upon request by the administrator, the County Attorney may request that the 

governing body grant the County Attorney the authority to commence any actions 

and proceedings available in law or equity to prevent the creation of a building for 

lease or rent in violation of these regulations; restrain, correct, or abate a building 

for lease or rent in violation of these regulations; or prevent the occupancy of a 

building for lease or rent in violation of these regulations.   

 

2 CHAPTER 2: BUILDINGS FOR LEASE OR RENT DEVELOPMENT 

REQUIREMENTS 
 

2.1  Submittal requirements. 
 

A. BLR required submittal of items listed below. This list is not all inclusive, some 

developments may require less or additional items. 

 

i. Property lines of the lot, with topography. 

 

ii. A layout of all spaces, buildings, or structures proposed for rent or lease. 

 

iii. Setback/Build-to requirements, structure separations. 

 

iv. Location of common areas and facilities. 

 

v. Open Space and/or recreation areas are required as outlined in these regulations. 

 

vi. A Road Evaluation Study or Traffic Impact Study, if required by Section 2.5.E. of 

these regulations. 

 

vii. Easements, existing and proposed. 

 

viii. North Arrow, Scale, with a scale bar. 

 

ix. Civil Drawings showing all site grading, drainage, accessible parking and routes. 

 

x. Comprehensive Drainage Plan. 

 

xi. Dumpster enclosures, (if applicable)



 

2.2  Improvement Design. 
 

Engineering and survey plans, specifications, and reports required in connection with public 

improvements and other elements of the BLR required by the governing body must be prepared 

by a professional engineer or professional land surveyor as their respective licensing laws allow 

in accordance with these regulations.  

 

2.3  Buildings 

 
A. Regulation of spaces: Each space must contain a building site that conforms to 

Yellowstone City-County Health Department regulations, the Zoning Regulations where 

applicable, these regulations and other applicable State or local regulations. 

 

i. Mobile home spaces: 

 

a. The number of allowed spaces is limited to what is approved on the final 

approved plan. 

 

b. Mobile home spaces must be arranged to permit the safe and practical 

placement and removal of mobile homes. 

 

c. All mobile homes outside Yellowstone County Zoning Jurisdiction must 

be located a minimum of twenty (20) feet from all perimeter boundary 

lines. 

 

d. Location of space limits on the ground must be approximately the same as 

those shown on the approved plans. Precise surveying of space limits is 

not required either on the plans or on the ground. 

 

e. The size of the mobile home pad must be suitable for the general market to 

be served and must fit the dimensions of mobile homes anticipated. At a 

minimum the pad should measure fourteen (14) feet wide and seventy (70) 

feet long. All pads shall be constructed of at least six (6) inches of gravel 

over a stabilized sub-base. 

 

f. A minimum of two (2) off-street parking spaces (each space an area 

minimum of 10x20 feet in size) must be provided on or adjacent to each 

mobile home space. The driveway must be located to allow for convenient 

access to the mobile home, and be a minimum of ten (10) feet wide. 

 

g. One guest parking space must be provided for each ten (10) mobile home 

spaces. Group parking may be provided. 

 

ii. Recreational Vehicle Spaces: 

 

a. Recreational vehicle spaces must be arranged to allow for the safe 



 

movement of traffic and access to spaces. 

 

b. Recreational vehicles must be separated from each other and from other 

structures by at least fifteen (15) feet. Any accessory structures such as 

attached awnings must, for purposes of this separation requirement, be 

considered part of the recreational vehicle. 

 

c. No recreational vehicle space may be located less than twenty (20) feet 

from any public street or highway right-of-way. 

 

d. The density of a recreational vehicle park may not exceed twenty-five (25) 

recreational vehicle spaces per acre of gross site area. 

 

B. Dimensions, Orientation and Topography: The space size, depth, shape and 

orientation shall be appropriate for the location. Areas with a slope of 25% or greater 

shall be identified on the face of the preliminary and final plans.  Areas of lots with more 

than 25% grade for building sites shall be subject to a geotechnical analysis. Areas within 

the subdivision with a slope of 25% or greater shall be identified on the face of the 

preliminary and final plans.  

 

C. Rural Lot Limitations: RV Parks not served by public sewer or public water systems 

shall not be less in area than what is required by Montana Department of Environmental 

Quality regulations. There is nothing contained in this Chapter that shall be construed as 

preventing the MDEQ or the County environmental health regulatory agency from 

requiring that all or any portion of an RV Park, shall not be built upon, or in a floodway 

or flood plain.  

 

2.4 Blocks 

 
A. Size and Orientation: Block Length and Section shall be provided in accordance with 

Table 2.4.1. ‘Required Block Design.’    

Table 2.4.1 Required Block Design 

Zone 

District 
Block Length Block Section 

 Max. Min. Preferred Max. Preferred 

RMH 750’ 200’ 570’ 777’ 605’ 

 

i. Block Length means the measurement along the property lines of all spaces that 

share the same street frontage until another street intersects. A block length 

continues until the street frontage changes from one cardinal direction to another 

(see Figure 2.4.1).  

 

ii. Block Section measures the greatest straight-line distance between any two points 

around the perimeter of an area enclosed by streets (see Figure 2.4.2). 



 

 

iii. Block Length preferred measurements are not minimums. Less than the preferred 

measurement is also acceptable if the design enhances the connectivity of the BLR. 

 

iv. Breaks in Block Length or Block Section may also be provided by the intersection 

with a dedicated pedestrian right of way of at least 30 feet in width, or an open 

space area with at least 30 feet of street frontage (see Figure 2.4.3.).  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Figure 2.4.1 Block Length 

Figure 2.4.3 Block Section 

Figure 2.4.2 Breaks in Block Length 



 

B. Rights-Of-Way for Internal Non-motorized Connections: Private rights-of-way for 

internal non-motorized connections within blocks will be required to provide circulation 

and safe access to schools, parks, playgrounds, shopping, transportation and other 

community facilities. Pathways or sidewalks shall also be installed from the end of cul-

de-sacs or dead ends to the property boundary of the development to make connections to 

other cul-de-sacs or streets in adjacent neighborhoods.  

 

2.5  Streets and Roads 

 
A. Street and Road Standards: 

i. All internal streets shall be private, unless approved by Yellowstone County Public 

Works. 

 

ii. Private streets shall be designed to provide access to all sites. No site shall have 

vehicular access to a public street. The streets shall be laid out to discourage 

through traffic and intersections with public streets shall be kept to a minimum. 

 

iii. Streets shall be designed and built to meet current County standards following the 

requirements as found in these regulations and in conformance with County Public 

Works requirements. 

 

iv. Curvilinear streets shall have no centerline curve with less than a one hundred (100) 

foot radius. At intersections the inside edge of the paved street shall have a 

minimum of a twenty (20) foot radius. 

 

v. All streets shall intersect at an angle of ninety (90) degrees except where the 

developer can show just cause not to and with the approval of the Board of County 

Commissioners. 

 

vi. The layout near street intersections shall be such that a clear vision area is 

maintained. Stopping sight distance on curves shall be as required on development 

streets. 

 

vii. All traffic control devices used shall comply with the current edition of the Manual 

of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD). All roads serving the mobile or 

manufactured home park shall have road signs installed at intersections meeting 

MUTCD standards.  

 

B. Road Network Performance Standards: When evaluating a road network, developers 

and reviewing agencies shall take into consideration the following criteria. These criteria 

were developed to ensure that all new spaces are provided access that is safe, convenient 

and effective. The proposed road network shall also enable emergency service providers 

to protect life and property under severe emergency situations. 

 

i. The lot for the BLR shall have documented legal and physical access. 



 

 

 

ii. Proposed roads within the BLR shall be looped or connected to each other 

internal roads whenever possible. Exceptions can be made when there are 

topographic features that prevent connections or when the legal status of the road 

prevents connection. 

 

iii. Driveways greater than 150 feet in length must have an approved turn-around at 

their terminus. 

 

iv. Major and subsequent minor expansion to developments shall have at least two 

means of vehicular access unless granted by a variance. 

 

v. Dead end roads shall not be more than 1000 feet in length. 

 

vi. No encroachments in the Right of Way are allowed without approval from the 

Yellowstone County Public Works Department. Encroachment Permits are 

required.  

 

vii. When access roads cannot be installed as required due to location on property, 

topography, waterways, nonnegotiable grades or other similar conditions, the fire 

department having authority may recommend additional fire protection measures, 

including, but not limited to, additional water supply, widening of roads, and/or 

additional pullouts or turnarounds. 

  



 

 

Figure 2.5.1 Road Network Evaluation Flowchart 



 

C. Streets and Roads, General: The arrangement, type, extent, width, grade, and location 

of all streets shall be designed with consideration to any adopted area plans including, but 

not limited to, the Growth Policy and Transportation Plan, and must be considered in 

their relation to existing and planned streets, topographical conditions, public 

convenience and safety, and the proposed uses of the land to be served by them. 

 

i. Distance between Parallel Right-of-Way: Where a BLR borders on or contains a 

railroad, limited access highway, canal, stream or ditch right-of-way, the applicant 

may be required to provide a street or easement approximately parallel to and on 

each side of the right-of-way at a distance sufficient to allow for the operations 

and maintenance of the intervening land. Such distances shall also be determined 

with regard for the requirements of approach grades and future grade separation. 

 

ii. Second Access: To facilitate traffic movement, the provision of emergency 

services, and the placement of utility easements, all major subsequent minor 

additions to a BLR shall provide at least two means of vehicular access built to 

the standards of this Chapter and designed to ensure public health and safety. 

 

Provision of a second means of vehicular access may be required for any BLR 

when deemed necessary for public health, safety and welfare. When not otherwise 

exempt, if a second means of vehicular access built to County Road standards 

cannot be provided for reasons of topography or other physical conditions, the 

applicant shall provide an emergency secondary access road, built to the standards 

detailed in Section 2.11.E of these Regulations.  

 

iii. Right-of-Way and Street Development: A minimum 60-foot right-of-way or road 

easement must always be provided when developing. If the property is being 

developed on only one side of an existing or proposed road corridor and dedicated 

right-of-way or a road easement is required, the property owner developing must 

secure the additional 30-foot half right-of-way or easement from the adjacent 

property owner. If the additional 30-foot half right-of-way or easement is not able 

to be secured, the property owner developing shall provide a full 60-foot right-of-

way on the subject property. 

 

The property developing must build the sidewalk, swale, and portion of the 

shoulder and roadway as determined by the County Public Works Department to 

meet the applicable road design standards. The additional improvements on the 

remaining portion of the right-of-way or road easement will be constructed at the 

time the adjacent property develops. 

 

iv. Street Continuity: Streets that are a continuation of streets from a subdivision or 

development across a road shall be so aligned as to assure that their centerlines 

shall coincide and shall have matching names. In cases where straight 

continuations are not physically possible, such centerline shall be continued by a 

centerline offset of not less than one hundred twenty-five (125) feet. 

 



 

v. Tangent for Reverse Curves: A tangent shall be introduced where necessary 

between reverse curves on Arterial and Collector streets as determined by a 

Professional Engineer licensed in the State of Montana. 

 

vi. Deflected Street Lines to be Curved: When continuing street lines deflect from 

each other at any one point by more than five (5) degrees, they shall be connected 

by a curve with a radius adequate to ensure stopping sight distance at the center 

line of a street in accordance with the most current American Association of State 

Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) Manual guidelines. 

 

vii. Intersections: Local streets shall be laid out so as to intersect as nearly as possible 

at right angles and no local street shall intersect any other local street at less than 

eight (80) degrees. Such angle of 80 degrees or greater shall be retained for at 

least fifty (50) feet back from the intersection. Any street intersection involving 

an arterial and/or collector street shall intersect at ninety (90) degrees, shall be 

retained for at least one hundred (100) feet back from the intersection. Not more 

than two (2) streets shall intersect at any one point unless warranted by design by 

a Professional Engineer licensed in the State of Montana and reviewed by the 

County Public Works Department. 

 

viii. Corners at intersections: Corners at all street intersections shall be rounded with a 

minimum radius of ten (10) feet. 

 

ix. Sight distance: The alignment of all streets and roads must provide adequate sight 

distances in accordance with the most current American Association of State 

Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) Manual guidelines. 

Intersections must be designed to provide adequate visibility for traffic safety 

based on the designed operating speeds of the intersecting roadways. 

 

x. Approach Permits: The developer shall obtain the applicable approach or access 

permits for all new accesses to County controlled roads and provide a site plan 

showing the proposed approach onto existing roads or to new proposed roads. For 

any new vehicular access onto a state-controlled road or highway, the developer 

shall obtain an approach permit approved by the Montana Department of 

Transportation (MDT). 

 

xi. Street/Road Names and Addressing: All new street/road names shall be approved 

by the Yellowstone County GIS Department prior to final plan approval in order 

to avoid duplication and confusion with names of existing roads. Addresses are 

assigned by County GIS. 

 

xii. Street/Road Signs and Traffic Control Devices: Street or road signs and traffic 

control devices of the size, shape, and height in conformance with the standards 

contained in the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices must be placed at all 

intersections. Private roads shall have blue street name signs, which include, 

under the street name, ‘Private Road’, public roads shall have green street name 



 

signs. A mechanism for maintenance of any private roads shall be established 

prior to final plan approval. All private roads shall be gated with electronic 

opening gates if the BLR is stick built, modular residential, or for commercial 

uses. If a gate is locked, it must be equipped with a KNOX box that is approved 

by the Fire Department having jurisdiction and the Fire Department shall be 

provided a key for access. Gates shall not be required for RV Parks or Mobile 

Home Parks. 

 

xiii. Central Mail Delivery: When required by the United States Postal Service, the 

developer must provide a cluster mailbox for mail delivery. 

 

xiv. Road Design and Improvement Standards: All streets and roads, existing or 

proposed, within and a proposed BLR shall meet the design and improvement 

standards outlined in these regulations, as well as the design specifications 

required by the County Public Works Department. 

 

xv. Street/Road Maintenance: The developer may be required to participate in an 

existing adjacent RSID for ongoing maintenance for external public 

improvements. These improvements may include, but not be limited to, new 

public roads, and bridges. culverts, street signs, sidewalks, pathways, and any 

other public improvements. 

 

D. Road and Street Performance Standards for Developments  

 

i. General: The design and improvement standards contained in this section shall 

apply to all construction and reconstruction of streets and roads within a BLR in 

Yellowstone County. 

 

ii. Improvement Design: All street improvements shall be designed by and 

constructed under the supervision of a professional engineer, competent in civil 

engineering, licensed in the State of Montana. All improvements shall meet or 

exceed the right-of- way and construction standards for the type of street to be 

constructed, found within these Regulations, the adopted transportation plan, and 

adopted policies of the County Public Works Department. 

 

iii. Plans and Specifications: Plans and specifications for all public or private streets 

shall be prepared by a professional engineer, competent in civil engineering, 

licensed in the State of Montana. A complete set of plans and specifications 

certified with the responsible Professional Engineer’s embossed seal shall be 

provided to the County Public Works Department prior to initiation of any street 

improvement construction. The applicant shall provide professional engineering 

services for construction inspections, and post-construction certifications. Record 

drawings shall be submitted to the County Public Works Department upon 

completion of construction. 



 

 

Post Construction Certifications shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

 

a. Compaction test results; 

 

b. Certification that all required improvements are complete; 

 

c. Certification that the applicant knows of no defects from any cause in 

those improvements; 

 

d. Certification that these improvements are free and clear of any 

encumbrance or lien; 

 

e. The method by which the one-year guarantee is to be provided; 

 

f. A schedule of actual construction costs shall be filed with the Public 

Works Department; 

 

g. If the developer seeks approval of the final plan prior to the installation 

and completion of all required improvements, the developer shall enter 

into a written agreement with the Board of County Commissioners 

guaranteeing the construction and installation of all required 

improvements. This agreement shall specify which type of security 

arrangements the developer elects to use and the time schedule proposed 

for accomplishing the required improvements.   

 

E. Road and Traffic Studies  

i. Road Evaluation Study for Unpaved Roads and all Commercial/Industrial 

Developments: Road Evaluation Studies (RES) shall be done by a licensed 

engineer to determine the viability of roads serving a proposed development. 

Roads serving a development are defined as the primary road or roads leading to 

the development, and any on-site or proposed new roads serving the development.  

 

The RES should determine the probable impact the proposed development will 

have on the existing and proposed road network by describing the following 

characteristics of the existing roads leading to the BLR and any on site or 

proposed new roads serving the development: 

 

• Road surface, section thickness, base type and thickness 

 

• Existing type of traffic and traffic loads; expected type and load from 

proposed development 

 

• Topography 

 



 

• Stormwater provisions—existing and possible impacts to roads 

 

• Maintenance records for existing roads – grading, dust control, etc. 

 

• Accident data for existing roads 

 

• Sight distances for existing and proposed roads 

 

• Grades of existing and proposed roads 

 

Probable impacts from the BLR shall be mitigated and a mitigation plan shall be 

proposed. If there are significant impacts to existing and proposed roads identified 

in the RES or as determined by County Public Works Department, a more 

detailed Traffic Impact Study shall be completed as described below in Section 

2.5.E.ii. 

 

ii. Traffic Impact Study: A Traffic Impact Study (TIS) shall be prepared by or under 

the supervision of an engineer with a Professional Engineer (PE) license AND a 

Professional Traffic Operations Engineer (PTOE) certification, unless prior 

written authorization has been provided by Yellowstone County for an individual 

who is not a certified PTOE to oversee development of the TIS.  In either case, 

the TIS report must be stamped by a licensed PE.  

 

A TIS will be required for any site development project, BLR plan, or other land 

development project that is projected to generate 300 or more one-way vehicular 

(personal vehicle or transit), bicycle, and pedestrian trips for a typical weekday 

(or weekend day if applicable) or 50 or more one-way vehicular trips during a 

typical weekday (or weekend if applicable) AM or PM peak hour (60-minute) 

period based on calculations made using rates or equations from the most 

applicable land use category or categories in the most current edition of the 

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation manual.  These 

criteria shall apply regardless of whether adjacent or internal roadways are paved 

or unpaved.  If adjacent or internal roadways are unpaved, a Road Evaluation 

Study (RES) must be completed regardless of whether or not a TIS is required.   

 

At the discretion of Yellowstone County or its designee, a TIS may still be 

required for development projects where trip generation projections do not meet 

the trip generation-based threshold described above.  The determination of 

whether a TIS is required for a project will be made by Yellowstone County upon 

submittal of a BLR or site plan application package unless a developer or its 

designee formally requests (in writing) that the County make that determination 

prior to any such submittals. The developer and/or developer’s designee will be 

notified accordingly of the County’s decision in writing.    



 

It is recommended that the developer (or its designee) schedules a meeting with 

Yellowstone County to discuss the required scope of work for any TIS and 

confirm the study area.  As a general guideline, the study area for a TIS shall 

include all site access intersections, any internal development intersections with 

projected daily total entering volumes greater than 1,000 vehicles/day, and all off-

site intersections for which both intersecting streets are a collectors or arterials 

that are located within one (1) mile of any part of the property boundary for the 

proposed development project.  Additional intersections outside the base study 

area may be added at the discretion of Yellowstone County and/or intersections 

that meet the study area criteria may be omitted from the study area, also at the 

discretion of Yellowstone County.   

 

In general, a standard scope of work for a TIS shall (at a minimum) include the 

following data collection, analysis, and reporting elements: 

 

a. Traffic Data Collection, as follows: 

 

1. Turning movement counts at all required study area intersections 

for a minimum of two (2) continuous hours each in the AM and the 

PM to establish peak hour volumes for those periods.  Counts shall 

be performed on a Tuesday, Wednesday, or Thursday (except 

when a weekend analysis is applicable based on the land use) to 

avoid weekend traffic pattern bias, avoiding holidays, inclement 

weather days, or periods of time where construction or emergency 

roadway closures are impacting traffic patterns.  If the subject site 

development or any of the required study area intersections are 

within one mile of a school, it may be necessary to evaluate two 

PM peak periods – an after-school peak and a traditional evening 

rush hour peak.  Vehicle classifications for all counts shall identify 

the number of trucks, buses, motorcycles, bicycles, and 

pedestrians.  

 

2. Turning movement or average daily traffic (ADT) counts for a 

minimum of twenty-four (24) continuous hours on all intersection 

approaches for any intersection where an all-way stop control or 

traffic signal warrants analysis is deemed necessary.  Vehicle 

classifications for all counts shall identify the number of trucks, 

buses, motorcycles, bicycles, and pedestrians. 

 

3. Directional speed data (for a minimum of 24 consecutive hours) 

may be required if speed-related safety concerns are to be 

addressed or where an evaluation of speed limits has been 

requested by Yellowstone County



 

4. Traffic data shall be considered valid for use on a traffic impact 

study until it becomes more than one (1) year old at the time of 

analysis OR if the data is deemed as inaccurate or invalid based on 

roadway closures, construction activity, severe weather, or other 

factors that could contaminate the data. 

 

b. A historical crash history analysis shall be required for all existing study 

area intersections unless historical crash data is not available.  Crash data 

requests are to be submitted to the Montana Department of Transportation 

(MDT) Safety Section but should also be supplemented with data provided 

by Yellowstone County and/or the City of Billings if MDT is unable to 

provide data for all study area roadways and intersections.  The minimum 

analysis period shall be the most recent 5-year period for which crash data 

is available.  In certain cases, a longer analysis period may be necessary to 

identify crash trends.  The following specific metrics or data should be 

analyzed and reported (in text and/or table format) as part of a basic traffic 

impact study: 

 

1. Total reported crashes, injuries, and fatalities 

 

2. Crash frequency and severity rates measured in crashes/million 

vehicles 

 

3. Crash frequency entering (MVE) 

 

4. Collision types 

 

c. Trip generation analysis, using data and equations from the most current 

version of the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation 

Manual or the ITE TripGen web-based application, except in cases where 

local, empirical data is available that may better approximate trip 

generation characteristics of a site development or specific land use.  

Approval from Yellowstone County is required prior to the use of local 

empirical data in place of the ITE data.  Trip generation calculation 

assumptions and results should be summarized in text and/or table format 

to include the following information: 

 

1. Gross trip generation projections for each individual land use 

category (as required based on judgment of the author) and for the 

average weekday and peak hour analysis period(s) that are deemed 

applicable for the site development being analyzed.   

 

If the subject site development is likely to generate substantial 

traffic on weekend days or during non-typical peak periods, 

projections for those time periods should be provided along with 

those for the typical weekday, AM peak, and PM peak periods.  



 

All such projections should be presented as total trip ends and with 

assumed entering/exiting splits. 

 

2. Adjustments to gross trip generation calculations for internal 

capture, pass-by traffic, or any other adjustments should be 

summarized as well with supportive calculations provided in the 

study appendices.  ITE Trip Generation procedures for calculating 

internal capture and pass-by trips should be followed unless an 

alternate method for adjusting gross trips is deemed more 

appropriate, in which case that method should be explained clearly 

in the body of the report and supportive calculations provided in 

the appendices. 

 

d. Trip distribution and traffic assignment calculations shall be performed 

and presented in the report based on industry standard practices.  Trip 

distribution schemes will be developed based on travel demand model 

results, travel time calculations, and/or existing traffic patterns unless 

another method is determined to be adequate through discussions with the 

County, or its designee.  If there are one-way streets adjacent to the 

development site or there are proposed access restrictions (right-in/right-

out or ¾ access) for certain approaches, separate distribution schemes may 

be required for certain street segments.  The proposed trip distribution 

scheme(s) should be presented graphically on an exhibit that is included in 

the report body or appendices. 

 

e. Future traffic projections for any analysis horizon beyond existing 

conditions shall account for existing traffic demand and site-generated 

traffic assignments, as well as for any applicable traffic assignment 

projections at study area intersections from other traffic impact studies 

(build-up method) and/or an annualized background traffic growth rate.  

Background traffic growth rates should be projected based on historical 

traffic volume data when available.  If applicable data is not available, an 

assumed rate should be utilized that approximates overall population 

growth in the general vicinity of the study and the basis for those 

assumptions should be explained in the TIS report.   

 

f. Intersection capacity/level of service (LOS) analysis using software that 

applies methodologies consistent with the most current edition of the 

Highway Capacity Manual (HCM).  Note that Yellowstone County 

reserves the right to reject capacity analysis results from software 

programs for which the analysis relies solely on microsimulation.  

Capacity analyses shall be performed for all study area intersections (as 

previously defined) for the AM and PM peak hours (typically morning and 

evening rush hours), as well as for any additional key peak periods that 

may be unique to a study area or subject facility (e.g., near to a school).   

 



 

Intersection capacity analysis results shall be reported in terms of LOS, 

average (control) delay, and maximum (95th percentile) queue projections 

for each intersection approach and for the intersection as a whole.  

 

Intersection capacity analyses shall be performed with results reported for 

the following land development milestone scenarios: 

 

• Existing Conditions (the analysis year being defined as no earlier 

than the calendar year prior to the date of submittal of the traffic 

impact study) 

• Full Buildout/Occupancy (required for development projects that 

will reach full traffic generation potential one or more years after 

the opening date/year of the development) 

• Additional analysis scenarios will also be required for development 

projects that are to be phased, with an analysis scenario that 

corresponds to each planned phase of development 

 

Note that in any analysis case where a traffic signal is determined to be 

warranted and is being considered as a mitigation solution for an 

intersection, a roundabout shall also be analyzed using software that 

applies methodologies consistent with the most current edition of the 

HCM.  When a more complex roundabout analysis is required (e.g., when 

determining if a single-lane, hybrid, or multi-lane roundabout is needed) a 

sensitivity analysis using software packages such as SIDRA, RODEL, or 

ARCADY may be required. 

 

g. Additional elements of traffic operations/safety analysis that may be 

required for a TIS are listed below.  Note that intersection capacity is 

considered to be deficient and require potential mitigation any time a 

minimum LOS C cannot be achieved during one or more peak analysis 

periods for an intersection OR an individual approach to an intersection. 

 

1. Auxiliary Right-Turn Lane Analysis: For all external public 

roadways within the study area, an analysis of justification for 

auxiliary right-turn lanes shall be performed at all intersections 

(off-site or site access) where there are 40 or more existing or 

projected future right-turn movements during the design hour (or 

peak hour).  The analysis should follow the procedures outlined in 

Section 28.4.1.1 of the MDT Traffic Engineering Manual 

(November 2007 or the most current edition of the manual that 

provides auxiliary turn lane analysis guidance).   

 

2. Auxiliary Left-Turn Lane Analysis: For all external public 

roadways within the study area, an analysis of justification for 

auxiliary left-turn lanes shall be performed at all intersections (off-

site or site access) where there are 20 or more existing or projected 



 

future left-turn movements during the design hour (or peak hour).  

The analysis should follow the procedures outlined in Section 

28.4.1.2 of the MDT Traffic Engineering Manual (November 2007 

or the most current edition of the manual that provides auxiliary 

turn lane analysis guidance). 

 

3. All-Way Stop Warrants Analysis: For unsignalized intersections 

where capacity is found to be deficient and if traffic volume 

demands are reasonably balanced on 3 or more intersection 

approaches, an analysis of need for all-way stop control shall be 

performed (in addition to a traffic signal warrants analysis) using 

the criteria outlined in the most current edition of the Manual on 

Uniform Traffic Control Devices for Streets and Highways 

(MUTCD).  All assumptions made as part of the analysis shall be 

described clearly in the report text.   

 

4. Traffic Signal Warrants Analysis: For unsignalized intersections 

where capacity is found to be deficient and the addition of 

auxiliary turn lanes would not correct the deficiency, an analysis of 

traffic signal warrants shall be performed using the criteria 

outlined in the most current edition of the Manual on Uniform 

Traffic Control Devices for Streets and Highways (MUTCD). 

 

5. Parking: For any site where on-site parking is required to meet 

zoning requirements, a traffic impact study shall comment on 

compliance with the applicable regulations, as well as with respect 

to Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirements for 

parking.  

 

6. Queuing Analysis: For site developments that have drive-thru 

facilities, a queuing analysis shall be performed to evaluate queue 

storage and associated impacts to site circulation and site access 

conditions.  At this time, there is not a standardized or universally 

accepted approach to estimating queuing conditions for drive-

through facilities.  As such, the analysis may need to be qualitative 

in nature or rely on empirical data from similar facilities to 

properly evaluate queuing and potential impacts to site circulation 

and access.  It should also be noted that the trip generation 

projections used in the queuing analysis shall be based on the peak 

hour of generator, and not the peak hour of adjacent street traffic.  

 

7. Pedestrian, Bicycle, and Transit Considerations: Where applicable, 

a traffic impact study should comment on the availability and 

planned connectivity of pedestrian and bicycle facilities both 

within and external to the development site.  If transit routes are in 

operation in the vicinity of the site development, there should also 



 

be discussion of accessibility to transit services. 

 

The purpose of a traffic impact study is to assess the effects that a 

development will have on the surrounding transportation network, 

determine what provisions are needed for safe and effective site access for 

all modes, and address other related issues. The study report should 

document the purpose, procedures, assumptions, findings, conclusions, 

and recommendations of the analysis. The report should be prepared as a 

stand-alone document that can be objectively reviewed independent of 

reference materials, with adequate substantiation of all conclusions and 

recommendations, and that holds paramount the safety, health, and welfare 

of the public over and above any private interest.  

 

h. Impact Mitigation Financial Contributions Analysis  

 

The final section of a TIS report shall provide a written summary of an 

impact mitigation financial contributions analysis, the requirements for 

which are outlined as follows.  Developer financial contributions will be 

required for all study area intersections for which the subject development 

project is projected to increase traffic by 2.0% or more using the “Vegas 

Method” calculation approach whereby only the per-lane sum total of left-

turn and thru movements are compared to established critical lane volume 

thresholds of 1200 vehicles/hour for a four-legged intersection or 1140 

vehicles/hour for a three-legged intersection.  The Vegas Method 

calculations shall be made for each peak hour period at all study area 

intersections.  Upon request, Yellowstone County will provide a developer 

or its designee with a spreadsheet template and an example calculation to 

assist with this part of the analysis.  

 

If the critical lane volume percentage increase during one or more peak 

hour periods is 2.0% or greater for any study area intersection, a financial 

contribution will be required for that intersection.  Where the critical lane 

volume percentage increases for all peak hour periods at an intersection 

are less than 2.0%, the traffic volume-based impacts to that intersection 

will be considered as negligible and no financial contribution will be 

required for that intersection.  The amount of a required financial 

contribution for an intersection shall be calculated as the highest peak 

period critical lane volume increase (percentage) multiplied by the current, 

adopted “Average Intersection Improvement Cost,” which shall initially 

be set at $500,000 (approximate, typical cost for a new traffic signal or an 

intersection widening/turn lane project).  

 

Based on the above calculation procedure, the calculations for and results 

of which must be reviewed and approved by the County or its designee, a 

project owner(s) will be required to make financial contributions 

associated with one or more study area intersections if critical lane volume 



 

percentage increases meet or exceed 2.0%.  The contractual terms of how 

and when those financial contributions are made will be addressed 

separately through the BLR site development approval processes.  The 

funds accumulated from contributions associated with specific 

intersections will not necessarily be utilized to administer projects at those 

locations.  The County reserves the right to utilize the impact mitigation 

funds for part or the entirety of any analysis, design, and/or construction of 

projects at any locations within Yellowstone County based on current 

traffic operations, safety, or maintenance-based priority concerns.    

 

F. Access easements: Where access to or within a development is proposed using access 

easements the applicant must obtain or provide proper easements of sufficient width to 

satisfy the requirements of Figure 2.5.4. The easement shall meet the following: 

 

i. Easements must be granted by all property owners whose land the easement(s) 

cross in a signed and notarized document to be recorded with the final plan. 

 

ii. The location of any road easement must be shown on the plan if it is within the 

development or on a supplemental exhibit if it is off site. The existence of 

easements must be noted on the face of the final plan and on any deeds or other 

instruments conveying lots within the development. 
 

iii. All newly created easements shall be written so that they are easements 

appurtenant that run with the benefited land. 

  



 

 

 

  

Figure 2.5.2 Road Evaluation and Traffic Impact Study Flowchart 

 

This flowchart is to be used as a guide. Specific guidelines for the road evaluation and traffic 

impact studies shall be followed as detailed in Section 2.5.E, above. 



 

G. Right-of-Way and Street Widths: Street right-of-way and surface widths for all private 

roads, within Yellowstone County shall be provided as shown in Figures 2.5.3 and 2.5.4. 

 

H. Shoulders: Shoulders shall be required on both sides of all roads where no curb and 

gutter are required. Shoulders shall be a minimum two feet wide as per the applicable 

storm water requirements, and graveled, and must meet the specifications of County 

Public Works. Refer to cross sections in Figure 2.5.3, Figure 2.5.4 and Figure 2.5.5 as 

applicable for shoulder requirements. 

 

I. Grading/Cut and Fill: All streets within or adjacent to the BLR shall be excavated or 

filled to the grade established by these Regulations. 

 

J. Base Construction: The type of base required will vary depending on the nature of the 

existing material and with the particular type of traffic to be accommodated and shall be 

reviewed by County Public Works according to County specifications unless otherwise 

warranted by Engineering design. (See Figures 2.5.4 and 2.5.5) 

 

K. Street surfacing: All roads within or adjacent to the BLR shall be paved if they connect 

to an existing paved road (See Figure 2.5.4). Standards for such paved surfacing shall be 

according to County specifications unless otherwise warranted by Engineering design.  

 

Standards for gravel surfaced roads shall be according to County specifications unless 

otherwise warranted by Engineering design. (See Figure 2.5.5) 

 

L. Street Grades: All street grades shall conform to the requirements of the County. Street 

grades shall not exceed the following, with due allowance for reasonable vertical curves 

and intersection treatment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

M. Sidewalks: Sidewalks are not required as an improvement, a developer may choose to 

place sidewalks in the development. In such case, these sidewalks will be located in an 

easement along the sides of the private roads.  

 

N. Access Driveways: An approach permit is required for all new access driveways. New 

driveways shall meet the following standards: 

 

i. Property frontages of two hundred twenty-five (225) feet or less shall have only 

one (1) approach. In cases where parcels have more than one (1) road frontage, 

each frontage will not be treated separately when determining the number of 

approaches.  

 

ii. Additionally, Property frontages greater than two hundred twenty- five (225) feet 

Street Type Percent Grade  

Arterial 4 

Collector 7 

Local Access 12 



 

and less than six hundred (600) feet will be allowed up to two approaches. Each 

parcel or business shall have no more than two (2) approaches. Exceptions will be 

made for lot frontages of greater than six hundred (600) feet. In these instances, 

there can be one (1) additional approach for every three hundred (300) feet of 

frontage over six hundred (600) feet. 

 
iii. Additionally, in cases where a lot fronts on a collector or arterial road currently 

carrying or projected to carry more than 300 vehicles trips per day or where site 

distances warrant, the County may permit more than one driveway for 

commercial lots. 

 

O. Multi-Use Trails, General: When applicable, BLR’s shall be reviewed for consistency 

with the adopted Active Transportation Plan (ATP) to provide multi-use trail routes for 

safe, convenient non-motorized transportation routes throughout the County. The 

developer will be responsible for the construction of trails identified with the (ATP). The 

trail may also be located within a private easement if there is not enough right-of-way 

width to accommodate the trail. 

 

i. It is required that all new developments provide a 30-foot-wide multi-use trail 

easement across the property if the ATP indicates that a proposed multi-use trail 

route crosses the development property. 

 

ii. If the ATP indicates that a proposed trail route crosses the developments property, 

and a segment of the corridor has already been provided on adjacent property, 

then it is required that the development provide a 30-foot wide trail easement to 

connect to the trail segments at the property lines to provide for a continuous trail 

route. 

 

iii. When open space dedication is opted for, and the ATP indicates that a proposed 

trail route crosses the development property, linear open space including a trail 

easement may be considered as all, or a portion of, the required open space (See 

Section 2.16 of these Regulations)



 

 

 
Figure 2.5.3 



 

 

 

Figure 2.5.4 



 

 

 

Figure 2.5.5 



 

 

 

Figure 2.5.6 Turn-Around Standards for Roads 



 

 

2.6 Storm Drainage Facilities 

 
A. General: Facilities and design for storm water drainage shall be provided in accordance 

with standards set by the Montana Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ). The 

developer shall provide a storm water collection and conveyance system which is 

designed and constructed in accordance with MDEQ standards and which may be 

connected to an existing storm drainage system. If there is no existing storm drainage 

system in the area or if the existing system has insufficient capacity to carry the 

additional discharge, the developer shall provide an onsite area for retention or detention 

with controlled outlet capacity, if needed. Such on-site retention or detention and 

controlled outlet shall be utilized only if specifically approved by the MDEQ. 

 

B. Drainage Discharge: Discharge of storm drainage is subject to the following: 

 

i. Storm drain systems shall not discharge into sanitary sewer facilities. 

 

ii. Storm drain systems shall not discharge into agricultural water user’s facilities 

without the written permission of the appropriate irrigation district. 

* = Twenty (20) feet 

minimum unless 

otherwise required. 

Figure 2.5.7 Turn-Around Standards for Access Driveways 



 

 

C. Easements: Easements may be required between lots and along rights-of-way to manage 

storm drainage in developments. 

 

D. Location of Facilities: If any onsite retention or detention facility is used it shall be 

included as part of the lot used for the BLR.  

 

E. System Maintenance: If any onsite retention or detention facilities are utilized, a 

maintenance plan shall be created prior to filing the final approved development plan in 

order to provide funds for the maintenance of such facilities. 

 

F. Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4): Yellowstone County is part of a 

program to reduce pollutants in storm water runoff from construction activities that result 

in a land disturbance of greater than or equal to one (1) acre, within the MS4 boundary 

and outside the city limits in Billings. A map of the MS4 boundary is available in the 

County Public Works Department. Development inside the MS4 boundary may be 

required to follow the procedures described below: 

 

Any person or person that perform(s) construction activities within the MS4 

boundary that result in a land disturbance of greater than or equal to one (1) 

acre, shall obtain a permit or permission from MDEQ and abide by all of their 

rules, requirements, and conditions. This shall include construction plan 

submittal to MDEQ. A copy of the submittal, along with any responses or 

replies from MDDEQ shall also be submitted to the Yellowstone County 

Public Works Department. The final DEQ approved storm water management 

plan for all developments shall be provided with the final plan and recorded as 

part of the final DEQ documents when the final approved plan is recorded. 

 

2.7  Sanitary Sewer System 

 
A. If the development is within the service area of a public sanitary sewer system, and 

sanitary sewer services are within 500 feet of the boundary of the development, the 

developer shall install complete sanitary sewer system facilities in accordance with the 

requirements of the sewer district involved and the Montana Department of 

Environmental Quality (MDEQ).  

 

B. If any boundary of the development is within 500 feet of a public sanitary sewer system, 

the developer must connect to the sewer district and install sanitary sewer system 

facilities.  

 

The DEQ may grant a waiver of the requirement to connect to a public system if the 

developer demonstrates that connection to the public system is physically or 

economically impractical, or if the district or utility refuses to provide service. For 

purposes of this Section, a connection is economically practical if the cost is less than or 

equal to three times the cost of installation of an approvable system on the site.  

 



 

 

Developments that are developing in the County but are within the City of Billings 

Annexation Petition Area or Long-Range Urban Planning Area on its Limits of 

Annexation Map, or in close proximity to a public water or sewer system, shall consider 

in designing sewer systems the future connection to the public systems. Designing the 

system to connect to a public system is not a requirement but may better facilitate future 

annexation of existing development or extension of services to a development from a 

public system. The preliminary plan application shall require a narrative explaining how 

the proposed system is compatible with future integration to municipal wastewater 

systems. 
 

C. Where individual septic systems are proposed, the systems must, at a minimum, meet the 

standards set forth in Montana Administrative Rules, Title 17, Chapter 36 (Onsite 

Subsurface Wastewater Treatment), and obtain approval by the Montana Department of 

Environmental Quality and/or the Yellowstone County Environmental Health 

Department. 

 

D. Community Wastewater Systems are allowable if permitted by the MDEQ. Maintenance 

of these systems and land necessary for the systems will require the creation of a Home 

Owners Association or other means outlined by the development owner prior to final plan 

approval.  

 

2.8  Water Supply System. 
 

A. If the development is within the service area of a public water supply system, the 

developer shall install complete water system facilities in accordance with the 

requirements of the water district involved and the Montana Department of 

Environmental Quality (MDEQ).  

 

The developer shall submit an application for extension of water services and plans and 

specifications for the proposed facilities to the water district involved and to the Montana 

Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) and shall obtain necessary approvals 

prior to final plat approval. 

 

B. If any boundary of the development is within 500 feet of a public water supply system, 

the developer must connect to the water district and install water supply system facilities.  

 

The governing body may grant a variance from the requirement to connect to a public 

system if the developer demonstrates that connection to the public system is physically or 

economically impractical, or if the district or utility refuses to provide service. For 

purposes of this Section, a connection is economically practical if the cost is less than or 

equal to three times the cost of installation of an approvable system on the site. 

 

C. Where individual water supply systems are proposed, the systems must, at a minimum, 

meet the standards set forth in Montana Administrative Rules, Title 17, Chapter 36 

(Onsite Subsurface Wastewater Treatment), and obtain approval by the Montana 



 

Department of Environmental Quality and/or the Yellowstone County Environmental 

Health Department. 

 

D. Community Water Systems are allowable if permitted by the DEQ. Maintenance of these 

systems and land necessary for the systems will require the creation of an HOA or other 

means determined by the developer, that shall be created prior to final plat approval.  

 

2.9 Solid Waste Disposal 

 
A. The development shall satisfy the solid waste disposal standards set forth in Montana 

Administrative Rules, Title 17, Chapter 36 (Onsite Subsurface Wastewater Treatment). 

Approval of the final plan will be contingent on receiving solid waste disposal approval 

either from MDEQ or the City-County Environmental Health Department, as required 

below. 

 

B. Sufficient solid waste collection sites shall be provided for the entire development. Or 

arrangements with a solid waste company to have curb side pick-up.  

 

2.10 Utilities 

 
A. All new utilities serving the development including electricity, cable television, and 

telephone shall be placed underground, with the exception of fire hydrants, cable 

closures, alignment markers, etc. Easements for utilities and any irrigation ditches that 

exist on the land shall be clearly shown on the final approved plan. 

 

B. Additional Provisions: 

 

i. The realignment or relocation of active irrigation ditches or pipelines is 

discouraged when said facilities are located outside of public right-of-way. If an 

irrigation facility is proposed to be realigned or relocated, the developer shall 

receive written permission of the appropriate irrigation district and/or water user 

and the developers. A Professional Engineer shall certify prior to final plan 

approval that the water entering and exiting the realigned or relocated irrigation 

facility is the same quality and quantity that entered or exited the facility prior to 

realignment or relocation. 

 

ii. New storm water generated from a development shall not be discharged into an 

irrigation facility unless the developer receives written approval from the 

appropriate agricultural water user facility prior to final plan approval.  

 

2.11 Fire Protection Requirements. 

 
To ensure a reasonable level of fire protection and life-safety for the public and firefighters, an 

approved water supply capable of the required water flow for fire protection shall be provided in 

accordance with this Section and the applicable fire code to all premises upon which facilities, 

buildings, or portions of buildings are hereafter constructed or moved into the jurisdiction. 



 

 

A. Definitions: 

 

i. Exposure: Any structure more than 200 square feet in size. 

 

ii. Dry Hydrant System: A permanent piping system with an underground static 

water supply, tank, and approved structure which provides year-round frost-free 

access to a water source other than a pressurized municipal water source. 

 

iii. Approved: Acceptable to the fire department having jurisdiction. 

 

iv. Fire Department having jurisdiction: Fire Department or Fire District serving 

the area in which the development is located. 

 

B. The developer shall provide a minimum of one of the following mechanisms for fire 

suppression when developing 4 or more spaces/buildings: 

 

i. A pressurized fire hydrant system meeting the flow requirements of the applicable 

Fire Code and NFPA 1142. 

 

ii. An approved, single, minimum thirty thousand (30,000) gallon underground water 

storage tank with approved dry hydrant type fittings located not more than one-

half (1/2) road mile from the furthest structure in the development. If an approved 

existing underground water storage tank is located within one-half (1/2) road mile 

from the furthest structure of the proposed development, it may be used to meet 

this requirement. In either case, the dry hydrant shall be constructed to the 

specification and standard provided by the Fire Department having jurisdiction, or 

 

iii. When a County development is within one half (1/2) road mile of a pressurized 

municipal hydrant the developer shall pay a fee in lieu of hydrant installation to 

the Fire Department serving the proposed development. The fee shall be 

established by a Resolution of the Board of County Commissioners. 

 

Under no circumstances will an open water pond or stream be used as an 

alternative to a pressurized system or in ground dry hydrant tank. 

 

C. Proportionate Reimbursement for the Joint Use of a Dry Hydrant System: 

 

i. Proportionate Reimbursement for the joint use of a dry hydrant system: If 

subsequent development will be served by an existing water supply site, the 

Board of County Commissioner shall include reimbursement of the original water 

supply site improvement costs as a condition of preliminary approval of the 

subsequent development. The reimbursement shall be in effect for a period of 10 

years from the date of approval of the original subdivision/development. The 

proportionate reimbursement shall be determine based on the number of 

subdivisions/developments utilizing the hydrant to fulfill the Fire Protection 



 

Requirements as outlined in Section 2.11. The reimbursement amount shall be 

determined by dividing the total cost of the hydrant (X) by the number of 

subdivisions/developments (Y) using the hydrant. If, (X/Y) =Z then (Z/(Y-1)) 

=Amount to be reimbursed to the RSID that maintains the dry hydrant system the 

new subdivision/development is going to be using. 

 

ii. Reimbursement qualifications: The original developer shall forward 

documentation of the total costs of the water supply improvement to the County 

Finance Department within 60 days of completion of the improvement. 

Subsequent subdividers/developers shall make their payment to the Finance 

Department, with notification to the Planning Department. The Finance 

Department shall then forward the funds within 120 days to the RSID that is 

funding the dry hydrant system maintenance. 

 

D. Dry Hydrant Specifications. If the dry hydrant option for fire suppression is utilized, the 

hydrant shall be constructed to the following standards: 

 

i. All dry hydrant systems shall be designed and constructed to provide a minimum 

flow of one thousand (1,000) gallons per minute (gpm) (3780 L/min) at draft. 

 

ii. Dry hydrants shall have a minimum clearance of twenty (20) feet (6.6 m) on each 

side and be located a minimum of one hundred (100) feet (30 m) from any 

structure. Approved pullouts or other design features shall be constructed to 

ensure that highway or road traffic shall not be impaired during use of the dry 

hydrant. 

 

i. Dry hydrants shall be centrally located to be accessible under all weather 

conditions. Dry hydrants shall be located in a public easement. Dry hydrants 

located on private streets shall provide easement document(s) granting 

maintenance and public access. Easement documents shall be recorded with the 

final plan. No tank will be located on a street classified as an arterial street or 

collector. Dry hydrants located on private streets shall provide easement 

document(s) granting maintenance and public access. 

 

ii. The water container shall be a clean fiberglass or concrete tank, approved by the 

Fire Department having jurisdiction. Contact the Fire Department having 

jurisdiction for specifications on materials and construction of the dry hydrant 

tank. Fittings for the tank shall be specific to the fire department having 

jurisdiction.  

 

iii. To ensure safety of design, functionality, installation, maintenance, and proper 

appropriation of financial resources, the Fire Department having jurisdiction shall 

approve all aspects of tank location, construction design, type of materials, pipe, 

and system fittings. 

 

iv. The location of all dry hydrant systems shall be shown on the face of the final 



 

plan and be labeled 30,000-gallon underground water storage tank/dry hydrant 

system. One copy of this plan shall be forwarded to the County GIS Department. 

E. Water Supply Maintenance. The developer shall establish a Rural Special Improvement 

District (RSID) prior to final plan approval that ensures the continual operation and 

maintenance of the water supply system. If the Fire Department having jurisdiction 

determines that the water supply system is not being adequately maintained, the Fire 

Department may maintain or repair the system. The cost of such maintenance may be 

levied against the real property within the development and may be foreclosed in any 

manner allowed by law. 

 

All underground water supply tanks shall be available for use by any Fire 

Department responding to any fire within the jurisdiction where the fire is 

occurring. 

 

F. Emergency Secondary Access Roads: In the event that an emergency secondary access 

road is approved as a means of providing a second access to a development, as required 

by Section 2.5.C.iii of these Regulations, it shall be built to the following standards: 

 

i. Emergency access roads shall be designed to a minimum unobstructed surface 

width of not less than 20 feet and shall be constructed to adequately support a 40-

ton vehicle with a surface so as to provide all weather driving capabilities. The 

road shall be constructed to County standards (see Figure 2.11.1). Where 

requested by the Fire Department having jurisdiction, gates or other approved 

barricades shall be required at either end of the road to restrict through traffic. A 

sign shall be fixed to each gate in a conspicuous manner. The sign shall read 

“EMERGENCY ACCESS ONLY” using black letters not less than 2 inches wide 

and 6 inches high on a white retro reflective background. 

 

ii. Prior to construction, a cross-sectional design of the road including location, 

section, surfacing, and drainage, and design of gates or barriers shall be submitted 

to and approved by the Fire Department having jurisdiction and an Engineer 

licensed in the State of Montana. The storm drain design shall accommodate 

runoff during a 10-year storm event to ensure that there is no blockage of the 

roadway in the event of an emergency. The drainage shall not encroach into the 

travel way. 

 

iii. Emergency access roads will be assigned a name by the Fire Department having 

jurisdiction. In order to ensure the roads are entered into and reflected on the 

County GIS mapping system, the road shall be shown on the plan along with the 

name assigned to the road. Emergency access roads will not have conventional 

street signs identifying them by the assigned name. 

 

One set of final plans showing corrections/revisions after review and approval 

shall be submitted to the Fire Department and one set of final plans shall be 



 

Figure 2.11.1 

provided to County GIS to ensure that the emergency access road and road name 

are entered into the GIS mapping system. 

 



 

 

2.12 Noxious Weed Control 

 
In order to comply with the Montana County Weed Control Act, Title 7, Chapter 22, Part 21, 

MCA, all proposed County developers must enter into a weed management plan agreement with 

the Yellowstone County Weed Board. Approval of the final plan will be contingent on an 

approved weed management plan on file with the Yellowstone County Weed Control 

Department. 

 

A. County weed management plans require completion of application forms obtained from 

the Yellowstone County Weed Control Department, a site map that will allow for 

inspection of the proposed development, and payment of the inspection fee prior to 

performance of the required inspection. 

 

B. Mitigation of any identified existing noxious weed species will be required as well as 

planned re-vegetation of any and all disturbed areas within the proposed development. 

 

2.13 Flood Hazard Evaluation. 
 

A. Land located within the floodway of a flood of 100-year frequency as defined by Title 76, 

Chapter 5, MCA, may not be developed for building purposes, or other uses that may be 

prohibited by state or local floodplain regulations.  

 
B. Where the 100-year floodway has been delineated by a Federal Emergency Management 

Agency (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM), or a City- or County-approved 

study on land in a subdivision, the 100-year floodway boundary and 100-year floodplain 

boundary shall be shown on the plat of the subdivision and the area within the 100-year 

floodway shall be labeled as a “No-Build Zone.”  

 
C. Any development of land that is in the flood fringe, a Zone A as shown on a FIRM, or an 

identified flood prone area is subject to the requirements of the Yellowstone County 

Floodplain Regulations. 

 

2.14 Additional provisions 
 

Health standards/license requirement: In addition to the criteria of this Section, mobile or 

manufactured home parks must also meet the minimum standards of the Montana Department of 

Public Health and Human Services (MDPHHS) under Title 50, Chapter 52, MCA and the 

requirements of the Montana Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ). The Board of 

County Commissioners shall not grant final approval of a mobile or manufactured home and/or 

recreational vehicle park until the developer first obtains the applicable licenses and approvals 

for the facility from MDPHHS and MDEQ. 

 

It shall be unlawful to operate a mobile or manufactured home park without holding a valid 

license issued by the Montana State Department of Environmental Quality, to be renewed 

annually.  



 

 

2.15 Timing of Improvements 
 

The developer shall install all required improvements before renting or leasing any portion of the 

BLR. All street improvements shall be designed by and constructed under the supervision of a 

professional engineer, competent in civil engineering, licensed in the State of Montana. All 

improvements shall meet or exceed the right-of-way and construction standards for the type of 

street to be constructed found within these Regulations, the adopted transportation plan, and 

adopted policies of the County Public Works Department. 

 

A development agreement will be recorded with the final plan outlining all infrastructure 

requirements for the proposed development. These requirements are outlined in Chapter 2.  

 

2.16 Open Space and Trail Requirements for Residential BLR Development 
 

Open Space percentages for developments that provide permanent, multiple spaces for the BLR 

are as follows:  

 

A. 11% of the area of the net land proposed to be developed at a density of one dwelling unit 

per half acre or less;  

 

B. 7.5% of the area of the net land proposed to be developed at a density of between one 

dwelling unit per half acre and one dwelling unit per one acre;  

 

C.  5% of the area of the net land proposed to be developed at a density of between one 

dwelling unit per one acre and one dwelling unit per 3 acres; and  

 

D.  2.5% of the area of the net land proposed to be developed at a density of between one 

dwelling unit per 3 acres and one dwelling unit per 5 acres. 

 

 

 

 



Adopted 8/27/13 [Yellowstone County Board of Commissioners Resolution #13-56] 

1 of 5 

 

Yellowstone County 

Buildings for Lease or Rent 

Application & Review Process 

 

 

1. Purpose 

The following regulations are intended to provide a process for the acceptance and review of 

applications for the creation of buildings for lease or rent in the unincorporated areas of 

Yellowstone County, Montana.  The lease or rent of buildings on a tract of record may directly 

impact the property and its surroundings with regard to vehicular access, public health, safety, and 

general welfare, the provision of public services and utilities, and the physical environment.  These 

regulations are adopted for the purpose of considering and mitigating potential impacts resulting 

from buildings proposed for rent or lease on a single tract of record, ensuring protection of the 

public’s health, safety and general welfare.   

 

2. Authority & Administration 

A. These regulations are adopted under the authority of Sections 76-8-101, et seq., MCA. 

B. The Planning Department having jurisdiction is designated by the Board of County 

Commission of Yellowstone County to administer these regulations, including the review 

of any applications submitted, preparation of a recommendation of approval, conditional 

approval, or denial of the application to the Board for its consideration. 

C. The Board of County Commission has authority to approve, conditionally approve, or deny 

the application for the creation of buildings for lease or rent pursuant to these regulations. 

 

3. Applicability 

A. These regulations apply to all lands within unincorporated areas of Yellowstone County. 

B. In their interpretation and application, the provisions of this chapter may be regarded as 

the minimum requirements for the protection of the public health, safety, and welfare. 

C. This resolution is not intended to abrogate or annul any building permit, certificate of 

occupancy, variance, or other lawful permit issued before the effective date of this 

resolution. 

 

4. Definitions 

A. Administrator – The individual designated by the governing body to carry out the terms of 

these regulations. 

B. Applicant – The owner, or designated representative, of land for which an application for 

the creation of a building for lease or rent has been submitted.   

C. Building – As defined in Section 76-8-101(1), MCA, a structure or a unit of a structure 

with a roof supported by columns or walls for the permanent or temporary housing or 

enclosure of persons or property or for the operation of a business. Except as provided in 

76-3-103(15) the term includes a recreational camping vehicle, mobile home, or cell tower. 

The term does not include a condominium or townhome. 

D. Department – As defined in Section 76-8-101(2), MCA, the department of environmental 

quality provided for in 2-15-3501. 

E. Governing body – As defined in Section 76-8-101(3), MCA, the legislative authority for a 

city, town, county, or consolidated city-county government. 



Adopted 8/27/13 [Yellowstone County Board of Commissioners Resolution #13-56] 

2 of 5 

 

F. Landowner – As defined in Section 76-8-101(4),  MCA, an owner of a legal or equitable 

interest in real property. The term includes an heir, successor, or assignee of the ownership 

interest. 

G. Local reviewing authority – As defined in Section 76-8-101(5), MCA, a local department 

or board of health that is approved to conduct reviews under Title 76, chapter 4.   

H. Supermajority – As defined in Section 76-8-101(6), MCA, a unanimous affirmative vote 

of the present and voting county commissioners in counties with three county 

commissioners. 

I. Tract – As defined in Section 76-8-101(7), MCA, an individual parcel of land that can be 

identified by legal description, independent of any other parcel of land, using documents 

on file in the records of the county clerk and recorder's office. 

 

5. Review Requirements for Buildings for Lease or Rent 

A. The following buildings created for lease or rent that are not or will not be served by water 

or wastewater are exempt from the provisions of these regulations when: 

i. The building is in conformance with applicable zoning regulations; 

ii. The building is one of three or fewer buildings for lease or rent that were in existence 

or under construction on the tract of record before September 1, 2013; 

iii. The building is a facility as defined in 15-65-101 that is subject to the lodging facility 

use tax under Title 15, Chapter 65, except for recreational camping vehicles or mobile 

home parks; or 

iv. The building is for farming or agricultural purposes. 

 

B. The following buildings created for lease or rent, that are or will be served by water and 

wastewater facilities, must comply with the provisions of subsection (C) but are exempt 

from all other provisions of these regulations when: 

i. The building is in conformance with applicable zoning regulations; 

ii. The building is one of three or fewer buildings for lease or rent that were in existence 

or under construction on the tract of record before September 1, 2013; 

iii. The building is a facility as defined in 15-65-101 that is subject to the lodging facility 

use tax under Title 15, Chapter 65, except for recreational camping vehicles or mobile 

home parks; 

iv. The building is for farming or agricultural purposes; or 

v. The landowner records a notarized declaration with the Yellowstone County Clerk and 

Recorder stating that the proposed building will not be leased or rented.  The 

declaration runs with the land and is binding on the landowner and all subsequent 

landowners and successors in interest to the property, and can only be revoked by 

review and approval by the governing body under these Regulations.  The declaration 

must include: 

a. The name and address of the landowner; 

b. A legal description of the tract upon which the proposed building will be located; 

and 

c. A specific description of the building on the tract of record. 

C.   The first three (3) or fewer buildings for lease or rent proposed on a single tract of record 

and not otherwise exempt under subsections (A) or (B), require review and approval by the 

department or local reviewing authority for sanitation review if required by Title 76, 



Adopted 8/27/13 [Yellowstone County Board of Commissioners Resolution #13-56] 

3 of 5 

 

Chapter 4, MCA, or to the local board or department of health if review is required by Title 

50, MCA.  If the department, local reviewing authority, or local board or department of 

health approves the application for sanitation review, the landowner shall record the 

certificate of approval and any conditions associated with the approval of the application 

with the Yellowstone County Clerk and Recorder. 

 

D. All other buildings for lease or rent on a single tract of record require review and approval 

by the governing body, pursuant to the provisions of Section 6. 

 

6. Application for Creation of Buildings for Lease or Rent 

A. Application Submittal Requirements 

i. An application for the creation of buildings for rent or lease shall be submitted to the 

administrator designated by the governing body, and accompanied by the payment of 

any fees established for the review of same.    

ii. The application shall include: 

a. A copy of the deed or other legal description of the real property; 

b. Signature of the landowner of the land for which the application is being made;  

c. Evidence of legal access to the subject property;  

d. A site plan showing: 

I. North arrow and scale bar; 

II. Property boundaries; 

III. Existing and proposed onsite and adjacent offsite streets, roads and easements 

that will serve the proposal; 

IV. Existing and proposed access to the subject property; 

V. Pertinent geographic features of the subject property, such as significant 

topographical features, areas with slopes greater than 25%, and designated 

floodplain; 

VI. Location of existing and proposed private or public utilities serving the subject 

property; 

VII.The location of existing and proposed buildings or structures on the subject 

property. 

e. A description of existing and proposed buildings and their location on the subject 

property, including the uses proposed for each and the approximate floor area and 

ground coverage of each building; 

f. A description of the proposed water, wastewater, stormwater, and solid waste 

disposal facilities intended to serve the buildings for lease or rent; 

g. A description of the emergency medical, fire, and law enforcement services 

proposed to serve the buildings for lease or rent. 

h. A description of any existing or proposed on-site land uses that may create a 

nuissance to human population in the area such as unpleasant odors, unusual or 

loud noises, dust or smoke.  

 

 

B. Review Standards for Buildings for Lease or Rent 



Adopted 8/27/13 [Yellowstone County Board of Commissioners Resolution #13-56] 

4 of 5 

 

i. Buildings for lease or rent that are not or will not be served by water or wastewater, 

and that are not exempt under the provisions of Sections 5.A. or 5.C, above, shall 

provide the following: 

a. Physical access to all proposed or existing buildings for lease or rent of a minimum 

unobstructed width of not less than 20 feet, constructed to adequately support a 40-

ton vehicle with an all-weather driving surface; 

b. A traffic impact study (TIS) prepared by a licensed engineer specializing in traffic 

applications for any buildings for lease or rent on a tract of record that will generate 

five hundred (500) or more vehicular trips per day, as referenced in the most current 

edition of the Trip Generation manual of the Institute of Transportation Engineers. 

The TIS shall contain the information specified in Section 4.6.C.4.B of the 

Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations.   

ii. Buildings for lease or rent that are or will be served by water or wastewater, and that 

are not exempt under the provisions of Sections 5.B. or 5.C, above, shall provide the 

following: 

a. Physical access to all proposed or existing buildings for lease or rent of a minimum 

unobstructed width of not less than 20 feet, constructed to adequately support a 40-

ton vehicle with an all-weather driving surface; 

b. A traffic impact study (TIS) prepared by a licensed engineer specializing in traffic 

applications for any buildings for lease or rent on a tract of record that will generate 

five hundred or more vehicular trips per day, as referenced in the most current 

edition of the Trip Generation manual of the Institute of Transportation Engineers. 

The TIS shall contain the information specified in Section 4.6.C.4.B of the 

Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations;   

c. A reliable water source for fire-fighting needs; 

d. Evidence of availability of structure-rated fire protection services. 

 

C. Review Process 

i. Upon receipt of an application along with all applicable fees, the administrator shall, 

within ten (10) working days, determine whether the application is complete and notify 

the applicant in writing.   

ii. If the application is incomplete, the administrator shall identify, in writing, any missing 

materials or insufficient information necessary to conduct the required review.   

iii. If the application is complete, the administrator shall complete review of the 

application, and the governing body shall approve, conditionally approve, or deny the 

application within sixty (60) working days.  The timeframe may be extended upon 

mutual agreement, in writing, by the applicant and the governing body.  Review and 

approval, conditional approval, or denial of an application for the creation of buildings 

for lease or rent pursuant to this section must be based upon the regulations in effect at 

the time an application is determined to be complete. 

iv. The governing body may approve or conditionally approve the proposed buildings for 

lease or rent upon finding:   

a. The proposed buildings for lease or rent, as submitted or conditioned, comply with 

these regulations and avoid or minimize potential significant impacts on the 

physical environment and human population in the area affected by the buildings 

for lease or rent;  



Adopted 8/27/13 [Yellowstone County Board of Commissioners Resolution #13-56] 

5 of 5 

 

b. Adequate water, wastewater, and solid waste facilities are available to serve the 

buildings for rent or lease; 

c. Adequate access to the site is provided to serve the buildings for lease or rent; 

d. Adequate emergency medical, fire protection, and law enforcement services are 

available to serve the buildings for rent or lease; and 

e. The buildings for lease or rent comply with any applicable flood plain regulations. 

v. The governing body shall provide written notification to the landowner of the approval, 

conditional approval, or denial of the application within 60 working days after 

determining the application was complete. 

 

D. Appeal 

i. An applicant who is aggrieved by a final decision of the department or the local 

reviewing authority may request a hearing as provided in Section 76-4-126(1), MCA.  

For purposes of this subsection, the contested case provisions of the Montana 

Administrative Procedure Act, Title 2, chapter 4, part 6, apply to the proceeding. 

ii. An applicant or landowner with a property boundary contiguous to the tract on which 

buildings for lease or rent are proposed to be located who is aggrieved by a decision of 

the governing body may, within 30 days of the date of the final decision of the 

governing body, appeal to the district court in the county in which the property involved 

is located. 

iii. For purposes of this section, "aggrieved" has the meaning provided in Section 76-3-

625, MCA. 

 

7. Enforcement and Penalties 

A. The administrator shall notify the landowner or any other responsible party of a violation 

of these regulations by certified mail and/or posting on the subject property.  The notice 

shall describe the violation, cite the section of these regulations being violated, and request 

the responsible party to voluntarily comply within 30 days. 

 

B. Any person who receives a notice of violation may, within the 30 days allowed, request 

inspection by the administrator to show that compliance has been attained or appeal the 

notice of violation to the governing body. 

 

C. If, after the 30 days for voluntary compliance has lapsed, compliance has not been attained 

or an appeal has not been filed, the administrator shall request the County Attorney begin 

legal action against the landowner or any other responsible party. 

 

D. Upon request by the administrator, the County Attorney may request that the governing 

body grant the County Attorney the authority to commence any actions and proceedings 

available in law or equity to prevent the creation of a building for lease or rent in violation 

of these regulations; restrain, correct, or abate a building for lease or rent in violation of 

these regulations; or prevent the occupancy of a building for lease or rent in violation of 

these regulations.   

 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: Resolution 25-135 Solid Waste District Intent to Raise Fees
Submitted By: Anna Ullom, Senior Accountant

TOPIC:
Resolution 25-135 Solid Waste District Intent to Raise Fees and Setting the Public Hearing for
Tuesday January 6, 2026 @ 9:00 a.m. in Room 309 of the John V. Ostlund Building located at 2825
3rd Ave North
 

BACKGROUND:
A resolution is needed to increase rates in the district to cover increases in fees charged to the district
by the City of Billings.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve.

Attachments
Resolution 25-135 Intent to Raise Fees for Solid Waste District 



YELLOWSTONE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 

Resolution No. 25-135 

 

Resolution of Intent to Increase Fee for Yellowstone County Solid Waste Disposal District 

 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 7-11-1001 through 7-11-1029 of the Montana Code 

Annotated, a board of county commissioners has the authority to create a county solid waste 

disposal district.   

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 7-11-1024(1) of the Montana Code Annotated, a board may 

assess a fee for a solid waste disposal district.   

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 7-11-1025, to assess a fee a board shall pass a resolution of 

intent and set a public hearing on the fee.  The resolution of intent shall contain a list of the 

parcels in the district, the names of the parcel owners and the amount of the assessment against 

each of the parcels.  The board shall publish notice of the public hearing.  The board shall accept 

comments on the fee, including objections to the fee.  The board shall hold a public hearing and 

hear comments on the fee, including objections on the fee.  The board shall pass a resolution to 

enact the fee. 

WHEREAS, the Yellowstone County Board of County Commissioners has created the 

Yellowstone County Solid Waste Disposal District.  The Yellowstone County Commission 

manages the District.  The County Commission wants to increase the fee for the District from 

$25.00 to $35.00 per residential parcel effective as of July 1, 2026.  The County Commission 

wants to increase the fee because of projected increases in the cost to dispose of the waste 

charged by the City of Billings.  The Board of County Commissioners believes that the fee 

increase may be necessary to maintain the current level of service provided by the District.   

 

WHEREAS, the Yellowstone County Board of County Commissioners desires to pass this 

resolution of intent to increase the fee for the Yellowstone County Solid Waste Disposal District 

and set a public hearing on the fee increase for January 6, 2026. 

 

WHEREAS, the fee increase is needed to cover increased costs.  The fee increase is needed to 

maintain the current level of service provided by the District.    

   

WHEREAS, on January 6, 2026, the Yellowstone County Board of County Commissioners will 

hold a public hearing on the fee increase.  The Board will receive written objections and both 

written and oral comments on the fee increase.  The Board will consider the objections and 

comments.  If the Board finds that the fee increase is in the best interest of the public, it shall 

pass a resolution increasing the fees for residential properties from $25 to $35 per year.   

  



NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, 

 

The Yellowstone County Board of County Commissioners shall hold a public hearing on  

January 6, 2026 to determine whether to increase the fee assessed by the Yellowstone County 

Solid Waste Disposal District on residential properties from $25.00 to $35.00 effective as of July 

1, 2026 per parcel to continue until otherwise amended.  A list of the parcels in the District, the 

owners of the parcels in the District and the old and new assessment for each parcel in the 

District is available in the Clerk & Recorder’s Office with this Resolution 25-135 of Intent to 

Increase Fees for Yellowstone County Solid Waste Disposal District.  

The Yellowstone County Clerk and Recorder shall provide notice of the hearing, shall receive 

written objections and comments on the proposed fee increase and shall provide the objections 

and comments to the Board before the hearing.  On December 26, 2025 and January 2, 2026, the 

Clerk and Recorder is ordered to publish notice of the hearing in the Yellowstone County News.   

 

Passed and Adopted on the 23rd day of December, 2025. 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

YELLOWSTONE COUNTY, MONTANA 

 

 

__________________________________   

Mark Morse, Chairman      

 

 

__________________________________ 

Michael J. Waters, Member     Attest: 

 

        

__________________________________  __________________________________ 

Chris White, Member     Jeff Martin 

       Yellowstone County Clerk and Recorder 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular 1. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: Board Appointment
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Board Appointment - Kim Deal to LPSD

BACKGROUND:
See Attached

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Sign and Mail

Attachments
Kim Deal 





   
B.O.C.C. Regular 1. b.        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: Lockwood Pedestrian Safety District Bylaws 2025
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Lockwood Pedestrian Safety District Bylaws 2025

BACKGROUND:
See Attached. Updated Bylaws.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve or Deny

Attachments
Lockwood Pedestrian Safety District Bylaws 2025 
Lockwood Pedestrian Safety District Bylaws 2015 



















   
B.O.C.C. Regular 1. c.        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: Ostlund Building Employee Guidelines
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Ostlund Building Employee Guidelines
 

BACKGROUND:
See Attached

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve or Deny

Attachments
Ostlund Building Employee Guidelines 





   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: Release and Settlement of Claims- Davis 
Submitted For: Melissa Williams, Deputy County Attorney 
Submitted By: Melissa Williams, Deputy County Attorney

TOPIC:
Release and Settlement of Claims — Davis
 

BACKGROUND:
This case settled in mediation on 12/18/25 for a sum of $2,000.00. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Agenda Item 

Attachments
Davis Release 









   
B.O.C.C. Regular 3. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: Change Order #1 - Sletten Construction - Short Term Hold
Submitted For: Matt Kessler, Purchasing Agent 
Submitted By: Matt Kessler, Purchasing Agent

TOPIC:
Change Order #1 - Sletten Construction - Short Term Hold

BACKGROUND:
The Finance department is requesting Commissioners' approval for a deductive change order for the
Short Term Detention Facility contract with Sletten Construction. The original contract value was
$8,727,707.45. The change order will deduct $544,632.02 from the contract for a new contract sum of
$8,183,075.43. This change order will close the project out.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Sign change order and return a copy to Finance.

Attachments
Sletten Change Order #1 



c.garness
Text Box
Cliff Garness, Vice President

c.garness
Text Box
12.2.2025



   
B.O.C.C. Regular 3. b.        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: Request to Expend - Facilities - Snow Plow
Submitted For: Matt Kessler, Purchasing Agent 
Submitted By: Matt Kessler, Purchasing Agent

TOPIC:
Request to Expend - Facilities - Snow Plow

BACKGROUND:
The Facilities Department is requesting Commissioners' approval for the purchase of a snow plow for
the new facilities pickup truck at the Ostlund Building. The cost of the snow plow is $7,245.00. The
purchase was included in the FY26 budget and there are sufficient funds in the General Fund -
Equipment account (4050.000.599.411200.940).

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve request and return a copy to Finance.

Attachments
RTE - Facilities Snow Plow 





   
B.O.C.C. Regular 3. c.        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: Recommendation of Award - Metra Skybox Renovation
Submitted For: Matt Kessler, Purchasing Agent 
Submitted By: Matt Kessler, Purchasing Agent

TOPIC:
Recommendation of Award - Metra Skybox Renovation

BACKGROUND:
An Invitation for Bids was released on October 28th, 2025, seeking a contractor to provide construction
services for the renovation of the Skybox suites located in the First Interstate Arena. Bids were
received from Yellowstone Basin Construction, TW Ridley Construction, Jackson Contractor Group,
and Bauer Construction, Inc., and were opened and read aloud by the Commissioners on December
16th, 2025. A selection committee reviewed the bids and it is the recommendation of the committee to
award the contract to Bauer Construction, Inc.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the Notice of Intent to Award and return a copy to Finance.

Attachments
NOIA - Metra Skybox Reno 



Yellowstone County 

Finance Department 

Notice of Intent to Award 

Solicitation Title: Metra Skybox Renovation 

Solicitation Close Date: December 15th, 2025 

Notice of Intent to Award Posting Date: December 23rd, 2025 

Yellowstone County intends to award a contract to the apparent successful bidder/offeror 
of the above-mentioned solicitation. This Notice of Intent to Award shall not be considered 
a binding commitment by the County. 

In accordance with relevant statutes and policies, the County has made available for 
public inspection the relevant bid tab/scoring matrix for the above-mentioned solicitation. 
Comments from the public regarding the proposed award must be submitted in writing to 
the Purchasing Agent at the email address listed below within this seven-day notice period. 

Purchasing Agent/Contact Information: Matt Kessler, mkessler@yellowstonecountymt.gov 

Apparent Successful Offeror(s) 
Bauer Construction, Inc. 

Unsuccessful Offeror(s) 
Jackson Contractor Group 
TW Ridley Construction 
Yellowstone Basin Construction 

mailto:mkessler@yellowstonecountymt.gov


   
B.O.C.C. Regular 3. d.        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: EDA Grant Amendment - Scope Increase North Frontage
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
EDA Grant Amendment - Scope Increase North Frontage
 

BACKGROUND:
See Attached

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve or Deny

Attachments
EDA Grant Amendment - Scope Increase North Frontage 









   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title:
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
Big Horn County Agreement for Adult Detention Services
 

BACKGROUND:
The previous agreement expired in 2023.  The new agreement is effective 1/1/26 through 12/31/26
and stipulates a fee of $130.00 per inmate per day, excluding medical expenses.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve. 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular 5. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: Yellowstone County Class Specificaiton - Custodian/Housekeeping Supervisor
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Yellowstone County Class Specificaiton - Custodian/Housekeeping Supervisor

BACKGROUND:
See Attached

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve or Deny

Attachments
Yellowstone County Class Specificaiton - Custodian/Housekeeping Supervisor 









   
B.O.C.C. Regular 5. b.        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: ISolved Contract Renewal
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
Isolved Contract Renwal

BACKGROUND:
See attached. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve. 

Attachments
ISolved Contract Renewal 





   
B.O.C.C. Regular 5. c.        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: PARS
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
PERSONNEL ACTION REPORTS — Detention Facility — 5 Appointments, 1 Termination; District
Court — 2 Appointments; MetraPark — 1 Appointment; Road & Bridge — 1 Appointment; Youth
Services Center — 1 Salary & Other, 2 Terminations; Sheriff's Office - 5 Salary & Other; County
Attorney - 1 Termination 

BACKGROUND:
See attached. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve. 

Attachments
PARS 









































   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: Board Minutes
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
Board Minutes - MetraPark Advisory Board
 

BACKGROUND:
N/A

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Place to file. 

Attachments
MetraPark Advisory Board Minutes 



Minutes MetraPark Advisory Board Meeting 
December 16, 2025 

 
 
ATTENDING BOARD MEMBERS: Dana Bishop, Woody Woods, Jennifer Sayler, Charlie 
Loveridge, and Pam Ask 
 
ABSENT:  Jase Muri, Joy Culver, Mike Mayott and Brian Brown  
(Steve Hurd sent a resignation letter before meeting date.) 
 
COMMISSIONERS: Mike Waters 
 
OTHERS:  Tim Wombolt, Tim Goodridge, David Roth, Billie Chase, Michael Groscop, 
Cody Reitz, Stoney Field, Michaela Woempner, Craig Peterson, Callie Clark (recording) 
 
GUESTS:  Dianne Lehm with BSED 
 
OPENING REMARKS 
Dana Bishop called the meeting to order.   
 
Plaque Presented by Stoney Field to all Advisory Board Members for service to this 
Board.  Woody Woods, Dana Bishop, Jennifer Sayler, Charlie Loveridge, and Pam Ask 
 
MINUTES 
The motion to approve was made by Charlie Loveridge and seconded by Pam Ask.  
They were approved unanimously.   
 
MANAGERS REPORTS 
 
Stoney Field –Reported bids were in on skyboxes and construction would begin soon 
for updates.  New security company would be starting this week, Chase Hawks would be 
first event. We welcome Best the new crowd management company. 
 
Tim Goodridge – Nothing to add 
 
Billie Chase – Report in the packet.  Working on lights around the Expo.  Repainting 
Powder River panels to add permanent fencing around the outdoor arena. 
 
Craig Peterson – Report was in the packet. Basketball and Holiday Shows.  New radio 
transition coming directly. 
 
Michaela Woempner – Report in packet 
 
   



Cody Reitz – He has a report in the packet. Convention season for his department, they 
attended RMAF and IAFE. 
 
Tim Wombolt – Report was in the packet. 
 
Mike Groscop – Report on the table. 
 
David Roth – Report on the table. 
 
All Committee – No Report 
 
Unfinished Business- N/A 
 
New Business -N/A 
 
Commissioners Comments – Mike Waters thanked all board members for their service 
and years to this board.   
 
Advisory Board Comments- Charlie Loveridge thanked every for his 9 years on this 
Board.  Pam Ask thanked MetraPark for moving in a new direction over the last 4 years. 
 
Public comment -N/A 
 
 
Meeting was adjourned. 
 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: Board Minutes
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Board Minutes - DUI Task Force November 2025
 

BACKGROUND:
See Attached

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
File

Attachments
Board Minutes 









   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: ARPA Projects - Complete
Submitted By: Anna Ullom, Senior Accountant

TOPIC:
ARPA Project Tracking Sheet - through 12/18/25
 

BACKGROUND:
All ARPA projects are now complete and all money fully expended.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
File item.

Attachments
ARPA Project Tracking Sheet - through 12.18.25 



ARPA Projects
UPDATED: 10/31/2025 Expenditures

Cash @ 7.1.21 15,665,317.00$      

Revenue rec'd 6/10/22 15,665,317.00         Remaining Funds to Spend

LATC Funds rec'd 12/20/22 A101 #104900 // 7/31/23 A101 #109225 125,781.82              -                                                                LATC Funds - CAB Plumbing

COB Water Main Repl. Share A101 #109669 8/23/23 //A101 #116289 7/24/24 325,606.10              -                                                                Project #6 - South Expo Lot (Water Service Lines)

COB STDF Portion A101 #116379 12/31/24 // A101 #119681 1/16/25 // A101 #125389 10/22/25 2,000,000.00           -                                                                Short Term Detention Facility project

Expended to date (33,782,021.92)       

Cash @ 10/31/25 -                             

Remaining Budgeted Projects w/o Contingency -                             

Left to Expend/ Assign -$                          

Name Discussion Budget Expended Remaining Exp. Explanation for Variance Expenditure Category
IAQ (indoor air quality) upgrades - HEPA Filtration 

(Original anticipated budget was $4,000,000) 5/27/21, 7/12/21 Y (Eng.)

1.4 - Prevention in Congregate 

Settings

(COMBINED WITH IAQ PROJECT)

  -  Propane-air standby facility (Original Budget was 5/27/21, 7/12/21 1,356,565.40$      (1,356,565.40)$       -$                          

 Deduct REPLACING ALL Roof Top 

AHU - Declined by BOCC Y

1.4 - Prevention in Congregate 

Settings

Digital screens/ public address system

  -  PA System 

5/27/21, 7/12/21 305,604.85$         (305,604.85)$           -$                          

 DEDUCT - Did not replace 186 Sub-

Woofers in original budget Y

1.7-Other COVID-19 Public 

Health Expenses

  -  Arena Security system & Parking Lot 

5/27/21, 7/12/21 1,134,518.33$      (1,134,518.33)$       -$                          

 Deducted Data Cables and extensive 

number of drops proposed for Expo & 

Pavilion  Y

1.7-Other COVID-19 Public 

Health Expenses (incl. Comm., 

Enforcement, 

Isolation/Quarantine)

  -  LED Video Display/Signage 

5/27/21, 7/12/21 1,442,076.20$      (1,442,076.20)$       -$                          

 Bids came in substantially below 

original estimates Y

1.7-Other COVID-19 Public 

Health Expenses

Sewer, Water, and Power infrastructure upgrades 

(Original Budget was $14,509,546.00) 5/27/21, 7/12/21 Y 5.18- Water and Sewer: Other

PROJECT #1 OF 6 –  VIP PREMIUM LOT  (COMPLETED)      & 

ARENA PARKING LOT ISLANDS (COMPLETED) 900,037.23$         (900,037.23)$           -$                          

 Reduced #  of Security Cameras & 

bids came in under estimates // Est 

vs. Bid 

PROJECT #2 OF 6 - LOWER LOT (PAVILION & EXPO)   

OUTSIDE SEWER LINES 6,929,149.43$      (6,929,149.43)$       -$                          

City Participation and value 

engineering 5.18- Water and Sewer: Other

PROJECT #3 OF 6 - ARENA LOT & RIDESHARE

BID = $2,178,344.00 less exclusion of vault  ($528,000.00) 

+ C.O.s 60,860.52 = $1,711,979.52 1,530,797.89$      (1,530,797.89)$       -$                          

Bids came in below original estimates 

and removed Vault replacement 5.18- Water and Sewer: Other

PROJECT #4 OF 6 - ARENA - INDOOR SEWER LINES 315,319.52$         (315,319.52)$           -$                          5.18- Water and Sewer: Other

PROJECT #5 OF 6 - BACK LOTS / RV LOTS (ELECTRICAL, 

WATER, SANITARY SEWER, ROCK SCALING, SCARFING 

ROCK LEDGE, WEB CABLE NETTING) 4,346,337.54$      (4,346,337.54)$       -$                          5.18- Water and Sewer: Other

PROJECT #6 OF 6 - METRA H2O LINES 1,475,237.72$      (1,475,237.72)$       -$                          5.18- Water and Sewer: Other

PROJECT #6 OF 6 - SOUTH EXPO LOT - WATER SERVICE 

LINES - CITY OF BILLINGS PORTION (not ARPA reported) CITY FUNDS 325,606.10$         (325,606.10)$           -$                          

CITY PORTION OF WATER MAIN 

REPLACEMENT N/A

Lockwood TEDD - Engineering Costs 

(Original Budget was $556,000.00) 5/27/21, 7/12/21 772,305.83$         (726,552.23)$           -$                          Y

7.2- Transfer to Other Units of 

Gov't

299,431.37$         (299,431.37)$           -$                          

County Attorney 10/26/2021 996,901.51$         (996,901.51)$           -$                          

3.4-Public Sector Capacity: 

Effective Service Delivery

EXTENSION / 4H HVAC SYSTEM 132,880.00$         (132,880.00)$           -$                          

6.1- Provision of Government 

Services

County Admin/Miller Building - HVAC 1,643,255.52$      (1,643,255.52)$       -$                          

1.4-Prevention in Congregate 

Settings

County Admin/Miller Building - Plumbing 2,072,039.76$      (2,072,039.76)$       -$                          

6.1-Provision of Government 

Services

County Admin/Miller Building - Construction Docs (LATC 

Funds Report) LATC FUNDS 9,031.82$              (9,031.82)$               -$                          

County Admin/Miller Building - Plumbing (LATC Funds 

Report) LATC FUNDS 116,750.00$         (116,750.00)$           -$                          

Short Term Jail 5,723,929.50$      (5,723,929.50)$       -$                          

6.1-Provision of Government 

Services

Short Term Jail (not ARPA reported) CITY FUNDS 2,000,000.00        (2,000,000.00)          -$                          

*Color indicates completed project 33,827,775.52$   (33,782,021.92)$     -$                          

Previously Completed Projects  (YWCA $200k; Huntley Water & Sewer $25k; 

Kart Kleen $53,850; LUX Electrostatic Cleaner $1,702; Temperature Scanner 

$2,907; Remote Learning Wifi and Cabling YSC $13,583.49; VTC Equip for 

Justice Court $2,388.88)

Received $500k & $750k in FY25, and will receive $750k in FY26

Plumbing from Dick Anderson Construction contract partially funded with LATC Funds - FINAL 

REPORT WILL BE 12/31/25

Plumbing portion of Dick Anderson Construction contract is 

$2,199,408 - reduced budget to get to zero dollars left to 

obligate

Remainder of project/contracts to be expensed out of General 

Fund CIP; this budget amount represents signed contracts as 

of 12/31/24.

HVAC portion of Dick Anderson Construction contract.

Plumbing from Dick Anderson Construction contract partially funded with LATC Funds - FINAL 

REPORT WILL BE 12/31/25

1/1



   
B.O.C.C. Regular 4. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: Snow Removal Contract with Sparks Inc.
Submitted For: Monica Plecker, Public Works Director 
Submitted By: Trasee Field, Senior Secretary

TOPIC:
2025-2026 Snow Removal Contract with Sparks Inc.

BACKGROUND:
Snow removal contract with Sparks Inc. for Makenzie Meadows Subdivision.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
File 

Attachments
Contract 



 1 

Standard Form of Agreement for Snow Removal between Yellowstone County  

and Contractor on the Basis of a Stipulated Price 

                                 Makenzie Meadows Sub RSID 852 

 
 This agreement is dated as of the  day of December 2025, by and between Yellowstone 

County, Montana (the County), and Sparks Inc., Billings, Montana (hereinafter called Contractor). 

 Owner and Contractor, in consideration of the material covenants hereinafter set forth, agree as 

follows: 

 

1. Scope of Work: 

  Snow plowing in Mackenzie Meadows  Subdivision  

 

  Contractor shall provide all labor and equipment necessary to plow snow on all constructed 

public streets located in Mackenzie Meadows Subdivision. 

             Snowplowing will expected automatically once 4 inches of snow has accumulated. The advisory 

chair (Sam Sparks) may request plowing for lesser amounts but he must authorize the work. 

2. Contract Times 

 

This contract will be in effect from December      , 2025 until May 1st, 2026. Should any 

work, outside the Scope of Work need to be performed, both parties must agree in writing.      

  

             3. Contract Price 

 

The County shall pay the contractor $900.00 per plowing  

 4. Contractors Representation  

 

 4.1 Contractor has examined and reviewed the Contract Documents and other related 

paperwork.  

   

4.2 Contractor has visited the site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the 

general, local and site conditions that may affect cost, progress, performance and 

furnishing of the work. 

 

4.3 Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state and local laws and 

regulations that may affect cost, progress, performance and furnishing of the work.  

    

4.4 Contractor has given the County written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities or 

discrepancies that the Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents and  

 that the Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey the 

understanding of all terms and conditions for performance and furnishings of the 

work.   

4.5        The Contractor will not be responsible for damage to landscaping that is within 3 feet 

1

1



 2 

of the edge of pavement.       

 

 5.         Contract Documents 

 

 The Contract Documents, which comprise the entire agreement between the County                 

and Contractor, consist of the following: 

5.1       This Agreement. 

 

5.2         

 

5.3       Contractor’s current Certificate of Insurance, current Independent Contractor 

designation and Workers Compensation coverage.                               

 

6.       Miscellaneous 

 

6.1 Contractor shall not assign this agreement in whole or in part without written consent 

by the County, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  

 

6.2 Contractor shall maintain at its sole cost and expense, commercial general liability 

insurance naming Yellowstone County/ Public Works, as additional insured 

against liability for damages for bodily injury, including death and completed 

operations and property damages in a minimum amount of Seven Hundred Fifty 

Thousand Dollars ($750,000.00) for each claim and One Million Five Hundred 

Thousand Dollars , ($1,500,000.00), in the aggregate arising from incidents which 

occur as the result of Contractors negligence while performing any work or service 

and for which Yellowstone County / Public Works, sole basis of liability is 

vicarious liability for the acts or omissions of the Contractor or/and subcontractors.  

Contractor shall maintain at its cost and expense, insurance against claims for 

injuries to persons or damages to property, including contractual liability which 

may arise from or in connection with work or service by Contractor, agents, 

employees, representatives, assigns and sub-contractors.  This insurance shall 

cover claims as may be caused by any negligent act or omission.  The policy of 

insurance shall be an occurrence policy with a Best Rating of A- or better and must 

be in force throughout the period. 

Contractor shall name on the Certificate of liability insurance Yellowstone County 

/Public Works, as additional insured for on-site work or Maintenance Service.  In 

addition, Contractor will furnish to Yellowstone County a copy of the policy 

endorsement, CG 32 87 05 10, indicating that Yellowstone County / Public Works, 

are named as an additional insured under the Contractors insurance policy. 

Contractor agrees to furnish both the Certificate of insurance and policy                  

endorsement at least ten (10) days prior to beginning work. 

Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Yellowstone County / 

Public Works from and against any and all claims demands, obligations causes of 

action, lawsuits and all damages and liabilities fines, judgments, costs, (including 

settlement costs), and expenses associated therewith (including reasonable 

attorney’s fees and disbursements), arising from incidents that occur the result of 

Contractors negligence. And for which Yellowstone County / Public Works, sole 



 3 

basis of liability is vicarious liability for the acts or omissions of Contractor.  The 

defense and indemnification obligations under this paragraph of the Invitation to 

Bid shall not be limited by any assertions or finding that Yellowstone County/ 

Public Works, is liable for any damages by reason of a non-delegable duty.    

6.3 Contractor is required to maintain workers’ compensation insurance, or an 

independent contractor’s exemption issued by the Montana Department of Labor 

covering Contractor and Contractor’s employees. Contractor is not, nor is 

Contractor’s workers, employees of Yellowstone County/Yellowstone County 

Public Works.  Workers Compensation insurance, or the exemption from the 

workers’ compensation obligation must be valid for the entire period.  

 

6.7   The Parties agree that the laws of the State of Montana shall govern this                 

 contract, and that venue shall be in the Thirteenth Judicial District Court,      

 Yellowstone County, Montana 

 

                           6.8      Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the County against all 

claims for injuries to person or damages to property occurred from or in Connection 

with the Contractors performance under the Agreement. 

 

6.9 In the event of litigation between Contractor and the County, the prevailing party 

             shall be entitled to reimbursement of Court costs and reasonable attorney fees by 

             the non-prevailing party. 

 

7.0 The Contractor must, in performance of work under this contract, fully comply with all 

applicable federal, state or local laws, rules, regulations, including the Montana Human 

Rights Act, Civil Rights Act of 1964, The Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and the 

American with Disabilities Act of 1990. Any subletting or subcontracting by the Contractor 

subjects contractors to the same provisions.  In accordance with section 49-3-207, MCA, 

the Contractor agrees that the hiring of persons to perform the contract will be made on the 

basis of merit and qualification and there will be no discrimination based upon race, color, 

religion, creed, political ideas, sex, age, marital status, physical or mental disability, or 

national origin by the person performing under the contract. 

 

8.0 Termination 

 

This Agreement shall terminate in its entirety in accordance with the terms found in 

paragraph 2.  However, either party may terminate this contract on thirty (30 calendar days 

written notice, or if prior to such action, the other party materially breaches any of its 

representations or obligations under this Agreement.  Except as may be otherwise provided 

in this Agreement, such breach by either party will result in the other party being 

responsible to reimburse the non-defaulting party for all costs incurred directly as a result 

of the breach of this Agreement, and shall be subject to such damages as may be allowed 

by law including attorneys’ fees and costs of enforcing this Agreement.   

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County and Contractor have signed this Agreement in duplicate. One 

counterpart each will be delivered to the County and Contractor.  All portions of the Contract Documents 

have been signed, initialed or identified by the County and Contractor.  



 4 

 

 This Agreement will be effective December  , 2025. 

 

OWNER:      CONTRACTOR: 

Yellowstone County     Sparks Inc. 

Billings, Montana   59101    Billings, MT   59101  

       

_________________________________   _______________________________ 

Monica Plecker       

Public Works Director     Contractor  

 

 

   

 Advisory Board Chair – Sam Sparks 

              Phone 406-281-0329  

             e-mail  Sam Sparks <samsparks@elitemechanical.com>   

 

 

1



   
B.O.C.C. Regular 4. b.        
Meeting Date: 12/23/2025  
Title: Snow Removal Contracts with John's Home and Yard Service 
Submitted By: Trasee Field, Senior Secretary

TOPIC:
25-26 Snow removal contracts with John's Home and Yard Service.

BACKGROUND:
25-26 Snow removal contracts for Brookwood Subdivision and West Meadows Subdivision.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
File 

Attachments
Contract 
Contract 




















	Agenda
	AI 15826 December Recognition
	AI 15817 Public Hearing for Updated Buildings for Lease or Rent Regulations (BLR)
	       ATT_Resolution
	       ATT_SB 174
	       ATT_Updated BLR Regulations
	       ATT_Original BLR
	AI 15862 Resolution 25-135 Solid Waste District Intent to Raise Fees
	       ATT_Resolution 25-135 Intent to Raise Fees for Solid Waste District
	AI 15849 Board Appointment
	       ATT_Kim Deal
	AI 15866 Lockwood Pedestrian Safety District Bylaws 2025
	       ATT_Lockwood Pedestrian Safety District Bylaws 2025
	       ATT_Lockwood Pedestrian Safety District Bylaws 2015
	AI 15883 Ostlund Building Employee Guidelines
	       ATT_Ostlund Building Employee Guidelines
	AI 15879 Release and Settlement of Claims- Davis 
	       ATT_Davis Release 
	AI 15854 Change Order #1 - Sletten Construction - Short Term Hold
	       ATT_Sletten Change Order _1
	AI 15857 Request to Expend - Facilities - Snow Plow
	       ATT_RTE - Facilities Snow Plow
	AI 15869 Recommendation of Award - Metra Skybox Renovation
	       ATT_NOIA - Metra Skybox Reno
	AI 15882 EDA Grant Amendment - Scope Increase North Frontage
	       ATT_EDA Grant Amendment - Scope Increase North Frontage
	AI 1587715877
	AI 15864 Yellowstone County Class Specificaiton - Custodian/Housekeeping Supervisor
	       ATT_Yellowstone County Class Specificaiton - Custodian_Housekeeping Supervisor
	AI 15874 ISolved Contract Renewal
	       ATT_ISolved Contract Renewal
	AI 15875 PARS
	       ATT_PARS
	AI 15876 Board Minutes
	       ATT_MetraPark Advisory Board Minutes
	AI 15851 Board Minutes
	       ATT_Board Minutes
	AI 15870 ARPA Projects - Complete
	       ATT_ARPA Project Tracking Sheet - through 12.18.25
	AI 15871 Snow Removal Contract with Sparks Inc.
	       ATT_Contract
	AI 15872 Snow Removal Contracts with John's Home and Yard Service 
	       ATT_Contract
	       ATT_Contract

